# R. Graf Hip Sonography

# Diagnosis and Management of Infant Hip Dysplasia Second Edition



# Hip Sonography

R. Graf

# **Hip Sonography**

# **Diagnosis and Management of Infant Hip Dysplasia**

With the collaboration of S. Scott, K. Lercher, F. Baumgartner, A. Benaroya



#### Univ. Prof. Prim. Dr. Reinhard Graf

Allgemeines u. orthopädisches Landeskrankenhaus Stolzalpe 8852 Stolzalpe Austria

Library of Congress Control Number: 2006921371 ISBN 10 3-540-30957-8 Springer Berlin Heidelberg New York ISBN 13 978-3-540-30957-4 Springer Berlin Heidelberg New York

This work is subject to copyright. All rights reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in databanks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September, 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer-Verlag. Violations are liable for prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

Springer is a part of Springer Science + Business Media springeronline.com

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2006

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Product liability: The publisher cannot guarantee the accuracy of any information about dosage and application contained in this book. In every individual case the user must check such information by consulting the relevant literature.

Editor: Dr. Ute Heilmann, Heidelberg Desk editor: Dörthe Mennecke-Bühler, Heidelberg Cover design: Frido Steinen-Broo eStudio Calmar, Spain Production & Typesetting: LE-T<sub>E</sub>X Jelonek, Schmidt & Vöckler GbR, Leipzig Printed on acid-free paper SPIN 11603481 21/3100/YL -543210

# Contributors

#### Univ. Prof. Prim. Dr. Reinhard Graf

Allgemeines u. orthopädisches Landeskrankenhaus Stolzalpe 8852 Stolzalpe Austria

#### Dr. Sally Scott, FRCR

Radiology Department Dorset County Hospital Dorchester DT1 2JY UK

#### Kurt Lercher, Radiology Technologist

Allgemeines u. orthopädisches Landeskrankenhaus Stolzalpe 8852 Stolzalpe Austria

#### **OA Dr. Florian Baumgartner**

Allgemeines u. orthopädisches Landeskrankenhaus Stolzalpe 8852 Stolzalpe Austria

#### Azriel Benaroya, MD

Department of Orthopedics Elmhurst Hospital Center 79–01 Broadway Elmhurst, NY 11373 USA

# Acknowledgement

The authors wish to thank Mrs. Christine Puff for her hard work and extraordinary enthusiasm whilst typing this manuscript.

### Foreword

This book is a distillation of the knowledge and experience Prof. Reinhard Graf has acquired in 25 years of research and teaching. It cannot replace a practical training course in hip ultrasound, but it is invaluable as an accompaniment to the course and as a reference manual for all trained practitioners in hip ultrasound.

If the examination technique is followed, then diagnostic sonograms will be obtained quickly and easily. If the interpretation and measurement techniques are followed, they will result in an accurate diagnosis that is fundamental to ensuring appropriate treatment.

I first met Prof. Graf over 20 years ago after I had struggled unsuccessfully, for several months, to produce a reproducible, diagnostic hip ultrasound examination.

Within hours of commencing a training course with Prof. Graf in the hospital at Stolzalpe, Austria, the scales fell from my eyes and I started to understand what I was looking at.

I persuaded Prof. Graf to come to England to run a course here. He has now come for 17 consecutive years and the Dorchester course has trained over 700 orthopaedic surgeons, paediatricians, physiotherapists, radiologists and sonographers in the UK in the practice of hip ultrasound.

Professor Graf has conducted innumerable training courses worldwide including in Australia, Chile, India and Japan. In addition, as a result of his work, several countries, including Austria, Germany and Switzerland, have introduced National Screening of Neonatal Hips by Ultrasound.

His research continues. I have seen Prof. Graf modify the classification of the hip ultrasound appearances and the ultrasound examination technique over the years, reflecting his increasing knowledge both of the pathophysiology of developmental hip dysplasia and how errors in scan technique can lead to misdiagnosis.

The triumph of hip ultrasound, when performed to the high standard achievable today, is the detection of those hips with clinically silent dysplasias that subsequently develop a dislocation, or persistent dysplasia, if not treated (Graf type IIc). These account for the great majority of the previously so-called clinically missed congenital dislocations.

Those of you who have had the good fortune to be taught by Prof. Graf know of the skill, energy and enthusiasm that he brings to his teaching. It has been a very great privilege to work with him over all these years and to see the developments in hip ultrasound that, if properly applied, can lead to the abolition of late presenting hip dislocations.

Our aim should be that every baby born should have the benefit of an accurate hip ultrasound examination, performed to today's standard, with appropriate treatment when necessary to prevent the crippling deformities that result from missing the diagnosis in the newborn.

Dr. Sally Scott, FRCR Dorchester, UK 2006

# Introduction

#### Where Is the Problem?

Orthopaedic surgeons, paediatricians and radiologists all deal with the problem of dislocation and dysplasia of the infant hip. If dysplasia and displacement of the infant hip are described together under the heading "Disorders of Hip Maturation" then together they constitute the commonest disease of the musculoskeletal system. These disorders have implications not only for the child itself and its entire family, but they are of enormous consequence for public health. It is currently thought that 9%-10% of all hip replacements carried out are necessary because of a hip maturation disorder. Hence the importance of early detection. Generally, authors agree that early detection of dysplasia or displacement is fundamental for adequate treatment. However, opinion differs widely as to what requires treatment. Should only displaced or dislocated hips be treated or should a dysplastic bony acetabulum without any displacement be treated? How many resolve spontaneously without treatment? Should "unstable" hip joints be treated? There is no consensus about how "instability" should be defined. Does instability require treatment only if the femoral head can be dislocated out of the socket or if, under pressure, the femoral head shifts within the socket?

Hip ultrasonography with its ability not only to visualise the unossified parts of the newborn hip but also to show movement of the femoral head within the socket has brought about an enormous improvement in infant hip diagnosis. Hip ultrasound is practicable, reproducible, and able to be taught and learnt.

It is easy to be impressed by observing with ultrasound the movements of the femoral head

in the acetabulum. However, these observations are purely subjective and can lead to misdiagnosis. The cartilaginous and bony parts of the hip joint must be objectively measured and quantified in relation to the age of the baby, otherwise sonography ends in catastrophe.

#### How to Solve the Problem

Making a correct diagnosis is important, not for personal gain but only as a basis for treatment. The value of hip ultrasound is its ability and accuracy at showing exactly the anatomical pathology in the hip, thereby enabling treatment to be tailored to the exact pathology. The ultrasound appearances of the infant hip change rapidly in the first few weeks of life. Using the ultrasound appearances together with the baby's age, a classification has been developed with the purpose of ensuring that appropriate "stage-dependent" treatment is used. For example, a child with a dislocated hip requires different treatment from one with a dysplastic but undisplaced hip. A shallow bony acetabulum may be normal physiological immaturity at birth or dysplasia in an older infant. The normal development of the hip joint is most rapid during the first few months of life, thus an early diagnosis with appropriate effective treatment is essential for a good outcome.

Even though the Graf technique of hip sonography, developed in the late 1970s, has led to general screening of all infant hips in Austria, Germany and in Switzerland, it is still criticized by most Anglo-American countries, because of its perceived complexity. "Perceived complexity" because it no longer uses the original clinical and x-ray classification of normal, dysplastic, subluxated and dislocated, but classifies according to the exact anatomical pathology that must be identified and treated appropriately. According to the motto: "The better the diagnosis (= typing), the more selective and effective the treatment."

Instability must also be classified: which movements of the femoral head in the acetabulum are according to the age and are normal and which movements are pathological? The experience of the examiner is not important: the measurements which are reproducible and independent of the examiner make the decision!

Motto: Better ultrasound today than a limp tomorrow!

#### How to Use This Manual

This manual differs from other publications:

- It shows what is actually possible with hip ultrasound.
- It presents the current knowledge in an abbreviated form.
- It presents a summary of the German literature on hip sonography for non-Germanspeaking colleagues.
- Relevant literature is cited at the end of this book.
- It presents the standard achievable today and should help the user to avoid errors.
- It is based on the author's experience of more than 20 years teaching clinicians the theory and practice of hip ultrasound.
- This manual cannot replace practical training with an authorized teacher in hip sonography, only support it.

## Contents

#### 1 Technique

1.1	Equipment	2
1.2	Additional Equipment	
	for Hip Ultrasound	2
1.3	Image Projection	2

# 2 Anatomy and Ultrasound of the Normal Infant Hip Joint

2.1	Explanation of Terminology Used in
	Describing the Ultrasound Anatomy 6
2.2	Ultrasound Characteristics of the
	Different Tissues in the Region of the
	Hip Joint 6
2.3	The Proximal Femur in Hip
	Ultrasound 6
2.4	Femoral Head 7
2.4.1	Femoral Head Ossification Centre 10
2.4.2	Ultrasonic Problems and Difficulties
	with the Nucleus 10
2.4.3	Synovial Fold and Joint Capsule
	(Fig. 2.7a-d) 13
2.4.4	The So-Called Fluid Film 14
2.5	The Acetabulum (Fig. 2.8) 14
2.5.1	The Perichondriumof the Hyaline
	Cartilage Acetabular Roof 14
2.5.2	The Acetabular Labrum 15
2.5.3	The Acetabular Fossa 16
2.5.4	Definition of the Osseous Rim
	(Fig. 2.12) 17

#### 3 The Standard Plane

3.1	The Principle of the "Standard Plane"	20
3.1.1	The Importance of the Three	
	Landmarks	21
3.2	The Problem of the Variable Bone	
	Coverage of the Femoral Head $\ldots \ldots$	21

3.2.1	Shape of the Posterior Section 21
3.2.2	The Mid Section         22
3.2.3	Anterior Sections (Fig. 3.7) 22
3.2.4	Exceptions and Variations on the
	Typical Sectional Silhouettes 22
3.2.5	Definition of the Mid Section of
	Acetabular Roof 25
3.2.6	The Question of Reproducibility $\ldots 25$

# 4 Identifying the Anatomy and Checking the Landmarks and Tilting Effects

4.1	Anatomical Identification	28
4.2	Checking the Landmarks	28
4.3	Checking a Hip Sonogram	30

#### 5 Definition of Types

5.1	Туре І	33
5.2	Type II	34
5.3	Type III	34
5.4	Type IV	35
5.5	Differentiation Between Ossification	
	and Degeneration	35
5.5.2	Structural Disorder (Degeneration)	36
5.5.3	How to Assess Echogenicity in the	
	Hyaline Cartilage Acetabular Roof $\dots$	36

#### 6 Ultrasound Classification

6.1	Description	40
6.1.1	Basic Terms and Possible Variations .	40
6.1.2	Exceptions to the Systematic	
	Description	42
6.2	Systematic Reporting of a Sonogram .	43

#### 7 Measurement Technique

7.1	The Bony Roof Line (Fig. 7.1a)	46
7.2	Base Line (Fig. 7.2a–c)	46
7.2.1	Auxiliary Base Line (Help Line)	
	(Fig. 7.2c/d)	48
7.3	Cartilage Roof Line (Fig. 7.3a–c)	48

#### 8 Classification Using the Sonometer

8.1	The Alpha Values	52
8.1.1	Subdivision of the Type II Joint	52
8.1.2	The Sonographic Alpha Value and the	
	Radiological AC Angle	53
8.2	The Beta Value	53
8.2.1	Type Ia and Type Ib Hips	53
8.2.2	Туре D Нір	54
8.3	Classification in Premature Infants	55
8.4	Certainty of the Diagnosis	55

#### 9 Instability

9.1	Elasticity "Elastic Whipping"	
	(Fig. 9.1.b-d)	59
9.2	Pathological Instability	60
9.2.2	Definition of Pathological Instability .	60
9.3	Summary of the Principal Differences	
	Between Elasticity and (Pathological)	
	Instability	60

#### 10 The Terminology of Dislocation

#### 11 Scanning Technique

11.1	Preparation	64
11.2	Leading and Guiding the Mother $\ldots$	64
11.3	Scanning Procedure	65
11.3.2	Obtaining the Picture	66
11.3.3	Obtaining the Sonogram of the Left	
	Hip Joint	69
11.4	Errors	69

#### 12 Errors Due to Tilting the Probe

12.1	Antero-posterior Tilting	76
12.2	Postero-anterior Tilting	76
12.3	Cranio-caudal Tilting	76
12.4	Caudo-cranial Tilting	76
12.5	Cradle and Probe-Guiding Equipment	
	(Figs. 11.1c, 11.4b)	77

#### 13 Documentation and Quality

13.1	Image Documentation	82
13.1.2	Suggestions	82
13.2	Written Report	82
13.3	Tips for Checking and Ensuring the	
	Quality of One's Own Sonograms	82

#### 14 Principles of Ultrasound-Based Management

14.1	Basic Biomechanical Aspects Behind	
	the Principles of Treatment	84
14.2	Goals of Treatment	84
14.3	Stages of Treatment	84
14.3.1	The Preparation Stage	85
14.3.2	The Reduction (Fig. 14.1)	85
14.3.3	Retention	85
14.3.4	The Maturation Phase (= Ossification	
	Phase)	87
14.3.5	Maturation Curve	88
14.4	Why Errors Occur	93
14.4.1	The Problem of the Doctor $\ldots$	93
14.4.2	The Parental Problem (Compliance	
	Problem)	93

#### 15 Appendix

# 1 Technique



#### Contents

1.1	Equipment	2
1.2	Additional Equipment	
	for Hip Ultrasound	2
1.3	Image Projection	2

#### 1.1 Equipment

For hip ultrasound, no special ultrasound machines are needed. However, the following points are essential:

- Only ultrasound machines with ports for linear array transducers should be used. Sector probes should not be used for hip sonography due to the geometric distortion produced by refraction and defraction of the divergent ultrasound beam which can result in misdiagnosis (see Chap. 12).
- For hip sonography, a long but relatively light 5- or 7.5-MHz linear array probe is needed. Higher-frequency (7.5 MHz) probes have better resolution but poorer penetration. Newborns up to the 4th week of life must be examined with a linear transducer with a minimum frequency of 7.5 MHz, otherwise the small anatomical structures cannot be pointed out precisely enough.
- The pre- and post-processing adjustment varies depending on the type of machine used and is best discussed with the company's representative.
- The ability to electronically rotate the image through 90° on the monitor so that it can be viewed in the "standard projection" (see Sect. 1.3) or the use of a second monitor that can be turned on its side would be ideal.
- A hard-copy facility is essential. A thermal imager with its instantly available images is ideal, although film images may also be needed as they are more durable.
- Some ultrasound machines have software for the measurement lines and give the sonographic type automatically. However, the

software for the measurement lines is sometimes incorrect! To accurately measure the sonograms by hand they must not be too small. The magnification factor should be 1:1.7 or more, so that it is possible also to measure by hand.

#### 1.2 Additional Equipment for Hip Ultrasound

A cradle is essential so that the infant can be positioned in the standard way. A new probe-guiding system (Sect. 12.5) to avoid tilting effects is also essential. As the examination should be done standing rather than sitting, the table or trolley on which the cradle is placed should be of appropriate height with the cradle mounted on it.

#### 1.3 Image Projection

For ease of viewing and therefore interpretation, the standard projection used in hip ultrasound is to view the images as though they are the anteroposterior views of a right hip on an x-ray. (Researchers have shown that this is the projection most easily interpreted by the brain). The conventional ultrasound projection where the head is to the left of the screen is therefore reversed, ideally the image or monitor can then be rotated through 90° for ease of viewing. All hip joints will therefore be projected so that they look like x-ray antero-posterior views of the right hip (Fig. 1.1a–d).

**P Fig. 1.1a–d.** Possible projections of the infant hip, using ultrasonography. **a** Recommended anatomical projection, **d** conventional ultrasound projection. Of all the possibilities, the anatomical projection is the most suitable. Projections **b** and **c** are not recommended, but projection **c** is still better than projection **d** 



# 2 Anatomy and Ultrasound of the Normal Infant Hip Joint



#### Contents

2.1	Explanation of Terminology Used in Describing the Ultrasound Anatomy 6
2.2	Ultrasound Characteristics of the Different Tissues in the Region of the Hip Joint
2.3	The Proximal Femur in Hip Ultrasound 6
2.4	Femoral Head 7
2.4.1	Femoral Head Ossification Centre 10
2.4.2	Ultrasonic Problems and Difficulties with the Nucleus 10
2.4.3	Synovial Fold and Joint Capsule (Fig. 2.7a–d)
2.4.4	The So-Called Fluid Film 14
2.5	The Acetabulum (Fig. 2.8) 14
2.5.1	The Perichondriumof the Hyaline Cartilage Acetabular Roof 14
2.5.2	The Acetabular Labrum 15
2.5.3	The Acetabular Fossa 16
2.5.4	Definition of the Osseous Rim (Fig. 2.12)

#### 2.1 Explanation of Terminology Used in Describing the Ultrasound Anatomy

#### Echo hole:

("Sound hole") anechoic or hypoechoic area caused by tissues with low echogenicity (reflectivity), e.g. hyaline cartilage

Echo shadow or acoustic shadow:

anechoic area caused by total reflection of the ultrasound beam, e.g. bone

#### 2.2 Ultrasound Characteristics of the Different Tissues in the Region of the Hip Joint

**Bone:** Seen as a bright echo with an acoustic shadow behind it. This is because bone is highly reflective and blocks the through transmission of the ultrasound beam, preventing structures deep to the bone being seen by ultrasound.

Relevant structures in the region of the hip joint are where the bone meets cartilage:

- The ilium immediately above the acetabulum.
- The lower limb of the os ilium in the floor of the acetabular fossa.
- Femoral head ossific nucleus (when present)
- The bony ischium.

**Collagenous Connective Tissue and Fibrocartilaginous Structures:** These are highly echogenic but echolucent allowing through transmission of the ultrasound beam so that structures deep to them can be seen.

These are:

- The joint capsule and the synovial (capsular) fold.
- The perichondrium of the cartilaginous acetabular roof and of the greater trochanter.
- The acetabular labrum.

- The ligamentum teres and the fovea in the femoral head.
- The intermuscular septa and the tendons of the reflex head of the rectus femoris muscle.
- The transverse acetabular ligament.

Ossification Within Hyaline Cartilage: Developing blood vessels and the condensation of cells that precede ossification give bright echoes but are sonolucent. These occur within the femoral head and at the chondro-osseous junction in the acetabular roof. These must be differentiated from the echoes that can occur in the hyaline cartilage roof of decentred hip joints when fibrocartilaginous degeneration caused by pathological pressure and shearing occurs.

Fat and Fibrous Connective Tissue: Usually give few or weak echoes, sometimes fat may be anechoic. In the infant hip fatty tissue may be seen as a hypoechoic zone in the acetabular fossa between the lower limb of the os ilium and the ligamentum teres or between the insertion of the joint capsule and the reflex head of the rectusfemoris muscle.

Hyaline Cartilage: Is hypoechoic or anechoic (depending on machine settings). The sinusoidal vessels may be seen as faint serpiginous echoes.

Hyaline cartilage is found in:

- The femoral head, proximal femoral neck and greater trochanter of the femur.
- The cartilaginous portion of the acetabular roof.
- The lunate surface of the acetabulum.
- The triradiate cartilage.

#### 2.3 The Proximal Femur in Hip Ultrasound

At birth the femoral head, greater trochanter and "hat-shaped" proximal portion of the femoral



**Fig. 2.1a, b.** Anatomical interpretation of the sonographic image of an infant proximal femur: *1*, Bony part of the femoral neck (sound shadow). The strong echo at the chondro-osseous junction separates the



bony part from the cartilaginous part of the femoral neck. 2, Greater trochanter. 3, Cartilaginous part of the femoral neck (hyaline cartilage). 4, Cartilaginous femoral head (hyaline cartilage)

neck are of hyaline cartilage. These are separated from the bone shaft by the chondro-osseous border (epiphyseal plate Fig. 2.1). The chondro-osseous junction is very echogenic due to the histological structure of cell columns in the epiphyseal plate and then the total reflection of the sound beam by the bony structures of the femur. The echo of the chondro-osseous junction is an important landmark to be used to identify the femoral neck and as a basis for the identification of all the other anatomical structures. In order to achieve the best standard of hip ultrasound, we now know that, ideally, the chondroosseous junction should be seen on every sonogram. Not only as the landmark for anatomical identification, but also because its appearance alters if the transducer is tilted. Tilting the transducer distorts the image and can lead to serious misdiagnosis (see Chap. 12).

The shape of the chondro-osseous junction changes with growth. The shape of the echoes also depends on the rotation, abduction and or adduction of the femur. There are three basic shapes (Fig. 2.2a–c).

- Curved: In newborns.
- Palisaded: Parallel vertical echogenic strips medially, because of rather poor reflections from the medial part of the chondro-osseous junction.
- Medial part but not seen: Hidden by the acoustic shadow from the ossified lateral portion.

#### 2.4 Femoral Head

Being hyaline cartilage, the femoral head is hypoechoic or anechoic. The small serpiginous echoes of the sinusoids in the hyaline cartilage may be seen (Fig. 2.3). Some ultrasound settings will show the thin, completely anechoic cell-free outer rim of the femoral head.

The femoral head is not completely round but is slightly oval or "nut shaped". Geometrically, the infant hip is a "nut" or oval joint with



2

**G** Fig. 2.2a-c. Age-related changes in the shape of the chondro-osseous junction of the femoral neck. a Early in life: curved shape. b Palisades: echostrips in the medial part of the chondro-osseous junction. *Arrows* mark the palisades. c Advanced maturation: Reversed

V shape, with the medial part of the chondro-osseous junction being invisible, hidden in the sound shadow of the lateral, bony part. *1*, Chondro-osseous border; *2*, acoustic shadow of the bony part of the femur



□ **Fig. 2.3.** a Non-ossified femoral head: The sinusoids within the hyaline cartilage of the femoral head give worm-like echoes (1). The surface of the femoral head, zona annularis (2) has no sinusoids and appears as

an echo-free ring. **b** Sonographic image of infant hip demonstrating worm-like echoes within the unossified femoral head (1) and the echo-free ring-like zone, zona annularis (2)



**Fig. 2.4.** Explanation of the sonographic appearance of the ossific nucleus

consequent physiological incongruities causing the phenomenon of "elastic whipping" or normal movement of the cartilaginous acetabular roof (see Sect. 9.1) when the head rotates in the acetabulum.

#### 2.4.1 Femoral Head Ossification Centre

This may be present at birth. The average age at which echoes appear in a normal mature infant is at approximately 5–7 weeks.

Anatomically, the nucleus is not round but more oval or "arm like". It is not always in the centre of the femoral head and thus its shape and location in the head is variable. These two reasons make it impossible to assess the position of the femoral head in the socket using the ossific nucleus. The concentration of cells with new vessel formation is the first stage of development at the ossific nucleus site (Fig. 2.4). These changes cause echoes on ultrasound and the nucleus becomes visible ultrasonically. However, it will not become visible on an x-ray until calcification occurs at least 4–6 weeks later (see Sect. 5.5.1).

NB. There is a time difference of 6–8 weeks between early ossification being seen on ultrasound and it becoming visible on an xray. Ultrasound and an x-ray taken on the same day are therefore not comparable.

#### 2.4.2 Ultrasonic Problems and Difficulties with the Nucleus

• The half moon phenomenon (Fig. 2.5): When the ultrasound beam travelling from lateral to medial meets a large calcified nucleus, the echo is reflected off the lateral side of the nucleus and the medial part is not seen; a large



□ **Fig. 2.5.** The half-moon phenomenon appears when the femoral head is partly ossified. The ossified femoral capital nucleus blocks the sound waves. It leaves the lower limb of the os ilium in sound shadow, and the sonographic image of the infant hip cannot be used for diagnostic interpretation

ossific nucleus therefore appears as a crescentic or half moon-shaped echo.

- Diagnostic errors (Fig. 2.6a-c): The nucleus cannot be used on ultrasound, as it is in an x-ray, for assessing the position of the femoral head in relation to the acetabulum. It is not round nor necessarily in the centre of the femoral head and only its outer border can be seen. Any attempts to draw lines on a sonogram similar to these drawn on an x-ray will always give a false impression of the hip.
- The determination of ossific nucleus size: Because the ossific nucleus is not round and is not necessarily in the centre of the femoral head it is impossible to say which section of





■ **Fig. 2.6.** a Applying radiological criteria and assessing hip pathology by measuring the ossified capital femoral nucleus gives an erroneous impression of hip subluxation: *1*, Hilgenreiner line; *2*, vertical line. **b** Pseudo-subluxation of the femoral head, associated

the ossific nucleus the ultrasound beam is encountering. This will also vary depending on the position of the femoral head. If the ultrasound beam hits the largest diameter of the nucleus, a large echo will be seen, whereas if it hits the periphery of the nucleus, only a small reflection will be seen. In these circumstances the majority of the nucleus lies outside the sonographic plane.

with the half-moon phenomenon. **c** The same hip as in **b**. Rotating the femur changes the projection of the half-moon phenomenon within the femoral head, "reducing" the pseudo-subluxation

NB. It is not possible to perform reproducible measurement of the size of the nucleus with ultrasound.



■ Fig. 2.7a-d. Identifying anatomical structures of the infant acetabulum (as seen on ultrasonography). *1*, Synovial fold; *2*, labrum; *3*, cartilaginous acetabular roof, formed from hyaline cartilage; *4*, lower limb of the os

ilium; 5, transverse ligament; 6, ligamentum teres; 7, fovea centralis; 8, fatty tissue in the acetabular fossa; 9, triradiate cartilage; 10, triradiate cartilage perichondrium, on the inner side of the pelvis

• Limitation of ultrasound examination by the femoral head ossific nucleus: The most important reference point in every hip ultrasound is the so-called lower limb of the iliac bone deep in the acetabular fossa. This landmark is essential if one is to be certain one is

in the correct plane through the centre of the acetabulum. If the "lower limb" is not visible on the sonogram, no diagnosis can be made as the hip cannot be classified (for exception, see Sect. 3.2.4).

NB. Unless the lower limb of the os ilium is seen, the sonogram cannot be used (with a single exception: Sect. 3.2.4). If there is a large femoral head ossific nucleus, it blocks the ultrasonic beam and prevents visualization of the lower limb, so no diagnosis can be made. In these circumstance another imaging method must be used. The extent of ossification in the hip joint is therefore the limiting factor in hip ultrasound. Thus the use of hip ultrasound is only indirectly limited by the age of the patient.

#### 2.4.3 Synovial Fold and Joint Capsule (Fig. 2.7a-d)

The lateral side of the femoral head is covered by the joint capsule. This is closely applied to the femoral neck and is continuous with the perichondrium of the greater trochanter. The point at which the capsule is reflected off the neck to become the perichondrium is referred to as the "synovial fold". Seen ultrasonically the synovial fold is a poorly defined bright echo, or two close parallel line echoes.

*Beware*: The echo of the synovial fold is often mistaken for the acetabular labrum.

If one follows the joint capsule cranially from the synovial fold on the surface of the femoral head, the echo of the acetabular labrum is found on the inner side of the joint capsule. Next to the labrum is the hypoechoic hyaline cartilage portion of the acetabular roof, medial to which are the bright echoes of the bony acetabulum. The inner-most portion of the bony acetabulum is the lower limb of the iliac bone. Caudal to it is the hypoechoic triradiate cartilage. On the lateral surface of the triradiate cartilage is hypoechoic fatty tissue in the acetabular fossa. Between



**Fig. 2.8.** Identifying the anatomical structures of the chondro-osseous acetabulum: *1*, labrum; *2*, lower limb of os ilium; *3*, cartilaginous part of the acetabular roof

the fatty tissue and the femoral head the bright echoes of the ligamentum teres may be seen. The ligamentum teres inserts onto the central fovea of the femoral head. This insertion gives a strong echo (caution: this echo is often mistaken for the lower limb of the os ilium).

*Takecare*: When following from the synovial fold to the joint capsule, be careful not to follow the echoes of the inter-muscular septum instead of the joint capsule. This mistake is made quite frequently in decentred type III or type IV hip joints.



■ **Fig. 2.9.** a The so-called proximal perichondrium is a highly echogenic structure (1). The echo-poor perichondrial gap (2) is between the proximal perichondrium (1) and the joint capsule. Acetabular labrum (3). b The "proximal perichondrium" is highly echogenic.

Its image comprises four different structures: *1*, tendon of rectus femoris muscle; *2*, proximal insertion of joint capsule with fat pad; *3*, ischio femoral ligament; *4*, perichondrium. c *1–4* as in b; *5*, labrum; *6*, peri-labral recess

#### 2.4.4 The So-Called Fluid Film

In most cases the femoral head lies so close to the cartilaginous portion of the acetabulum that the narrow joint space cannot be seen. In some sonograms, however, a fine curved anechoic line is seen on the surface of the femoral head. This is known as the fluid film and may show the "vacuum phenomenon" (gas bubbles seen on ultrasound as very bright moving echoes).

#### 2.5 The Acetabulum (Fig. 2.8)

The acetabulum consists of a bony and cartilaginous portion. The cartilaginous portion is composed of the hyaline cartilage of the acetabular roof and the fibrocartilaginous acetabular labrum. The labrum is the most peripheral part of the acetabulum, in the caudal portion of its circumference it bridges the acetabular incisura as the ligamentum transversum. The ligamentum transversum has no ultrasound relevance but is sometimes visible. The fibrocartilaginous labrum is more or less triangular in cross-section and is highly echogenic, whereas the hyaline cartilage of the acetabular roof shows few echoes and looks like an "echo gap" (for exception, see Sects. 5.3, 5.5).

#### 2.5.1 The Perichondrium of the Hyaline Cartilage Acetabular Roof

The perichondrium is the lateral boundary of the cartilaginous acetabular roof. Distally it is continuous with the joint capsule and proximally merges in to the periosteum of the iliac bone. The proximal portion of the perichondrium is fairly thick and gives strong echoes on ultrasound (Fig. 2.9a). It is called the "proximal perichondrium". The distal portion is much thinner and gives fewer echoes or may give no echoes, an appearance that has led to it being called the "perichondrial gap".



**Fig. 2.10.** "Proximal perichondrium" and anatomical structures, legend according to Fig. 2.9b



■ **Fig. 2.11.** The acetabular labrum can be located using the so-called labrum definitions. On the *right*: symbolic representation of the "labrum definitions"

Attention: The echo of the proximal perichondrium can be mistaken for the echo of the acetabular labrum!

When high-resolution ultrasound equipment is used it can be seen that the strong echoes of the "proximal perichondrium" is made up of three structures (Fig. 2.9b, c): the proximal perichondrium itself, part of the insertion of the joint capsule and the tendon of the reflex head of the rectus femoris muscle. Between these echoes and the echogenic ischio-femoral ligament that lies on the joint capsule, there is an apparent interruption of the echoes, the so-called perichondrial gap.

#### 2.5.2 The Acetabular Labrum

The acetabular labrum is triangular in crosssection and is on the inner side of the joint capsule. There is no adhesion between the joint capsule and the labrum and there is a small recess between them. The base of the labrum is fixed to the hyaline cartilage acetabular roof (Figs. 2.8–2.10).

Tips for identifying the labrum:

The acetabular labrum can sometimes be difficult to recognize on a sonogram. In some circumstances (type IIIb joints) the labrum cannot be identified separately from the hyaline cartilage roof which is also echogenic. If necessary in difficult situations, one of the four "guides to the labrum" can be used to locate the labrum (Fig. 2.11).

- The echo of the labrum is always lateral and distal to the "echo gap" of the hyaline cartilage acetabular roof on the inner side of the joint capsule.
- **2.** The labrum is always in contact with the femoral head.
- **3.** The labrum is always caudal to the perichondrial gap.
- **4.** The labrum is where the contour of the joint capsule diverges from the surface of the femoral head. (This definition is needed to locate the labrum in type III b hip joints.)



**Fig. 2.12.** a Bony rim definition: The bony rim is the point where the concavity of the bony acetabular roof changes to the convexity of the ilium (the turning



point is marked by an *arrow*). **b** *1*, Concavity; *2*, turning point with sound shadow (measurement point); *3*, convexity

If the labrum still cannot be located, then one of the three landmarks of the sectional plane is missing. In this case the ultrasound image must not be used for diagnosis. the os ilium is approximately half way between the anterior and posterior rims of the acetabulum and casts an acoustic shadow. Caudal to the lower limb is the hypoechoic triradiate cartilage. Caudal to this the bright echo of the ischial bone will be seen in some planes (Fig. 3.4).

#### 2.5.3 The Acetabular Fossa

The anatomy of the acetabular fossa is quite complex and the structures that are present are of varying significance in hip ultrasound (Figs. 2.7, 2.8).

#### The Lower Limb of the Os Ilium

The lower limb of the os ilium measures 1–3 mm in size depending on the age of the baby. The lower limb must be clearly identified. It is an essential marker of the correct sectional plane and must be clearly seen on the sonogram unless the hip is decentred. Anatomically the lower limb of

#### Fat and Connective Tissue

There is a pad of fat and connective tissue on the floor of the acetabular fossa which may be seen as weak echoes overlying the lower limb of the os ilium.

# The Ligamentum Teres (the Ligament of the Femoral Head)

This linear structure may be seen in whole or in part in the floor of the acetabular fossa. It is a strong reflection (echo) from its insertion into the femoral head at the central fovea to its insertion into the lower acetabular margin. The strong echo must not be confused with the os ilium.

#### The Transverse Acetabular Ligament

This lies inferiorly and forms the continuation of the acetabular labrum over the acetabular incisura. It may well be seen especially in the newborn.

#### 2.5.4 Definition of the Osseous Rim (Fig. 2.12)

- **1.** The bony rim is the most lateral point of the concavity of the bony socket.
- **2.** The bony rim is the point where the concavity of the bony acetabular roof changes to the convexity of the ilium; in short, where the concavity becomes the convexity ("concavity to convexity").

NB. It is very important when identifying the bony rim to start from the "concavity" of the acetabular fossa, starting with the lower limb of the os ilium and moving proximally from medial to lateral. If instead you start from the ilium and look caudally from lateral to medial, the normal irregularities in the contour of the ilium can result in inaccurate identification of this important landmark too proximally. Frequently there is a small acoustic shadow just medial to the point where the contour changes at the osseous rim.

#### **Key Points:**

- Frontal plane "anatomical projection", i.e. viewing the ultrasound image vertically as in an antero-posterior x-ray of a right hip joint.
- The shape of the chondro-osseous junction of the femoral shaft changes with development and takes one of three forms.
- The femoral head is not round neither is the ossific nucleus. The ossific nucleus is not anatomically the centre of the femoral head.
- Accurate measurement of the size of the femoral head and the ossific nucleus is not possible ultrasonically. Enlargement of the ossification centre in the femoral head is the limiting factor in hip ultrasound. "Calcification in the head is only a sign of maturity". [Ultrasonographically, but there is also another interpretation possible (bad joke!)]
- A hip sonogram and an x-ray can only be compared if one remembers that ossification is seen 6–8 weeks earlier on ultrasound than on an x-ray. Sonograms show what will be visible 6–8 weeks later on an x-ray.
- The "proximal perichondrium" is a summation echo from several adjacent structures.
- The lower limb of the os ilium is ultrasonically the centre of the acetabulum.
- The bony rim of the acetabulum is the point where the concavity of the socket turns to the convexity of the iliac bone.

# 3 The Standard Plane



#### Contents

3.1	The Principle of the "Standard Plane"	20
3.1.1	The Importance of the Three Landmarks	21
3.2	The Problem of the Variable Bone Coverage of the Femoral Head	21
3.2.1	Shape of the Posterior Section	21
3.2.2	The Mid Section	22
3.2.3	Anterior Sections (Fig. 3.7)	22
3.2.4	Exceptions and Variations on the Typical Sectional Silhouettes	22
3.2.5	Definition of the Mid Section ofAcetabular Roof	25
3.2.6	The Question of Reproducibility	25

#### 3.1 The Principle of the "Standard Plane"

In order to be reproducible the same sonographic section through the hip joint must always be used. This will be explained more precisely in Sect. 3.2. To define a plane, one requires three points in space to be defined.





3

For hip ultrasound these points are:

- **1.** The lower limb of the bony ilium in the depth of the acetabular fossa (Figs. 3.1–3.4).
- **2.** The mid portion of the acetabular roof.
- **3.** The acetabular labrum.

If any one of these points is missing or not clearly shown, the sonogram is worthless and must not

**4** Fig. 3.1. a The sonographic image of the infant hip in the coronal plane has three landmarks: *1*, lower limb of os ilium as rotating axis for the sectional plane; *2*, mid part of the acetabular roof (standard sectional plane); *3*, acetabular labrum. b *1*, lower limb of the os ilium; *2*, correct plane; *3*, labrum



■ Fig. 3.2. Sonographic images of different sectional planes through the acetabulum. The rotational axis is through the lower limb of the os ilium. *1*, Anterior plane; *2*, standard (middle) plane; *3*, posterior plane

be used for diagnosis. There is only one exception to this rule which will be stated in Sect. 3.2.4.

# 3.1.1 The Importance of the Three Landmarks

For ultrasound purposes, the lower limb of the os ilium is the centre of the acetabulum. If this landmark is not seen on the ultrasound image, then the sectional plane does not pass through the centre of the acetabulum. Even if the sectional plane and acetabular labrum are correctly shown, no diagnosis can be made in a centred



□ Fig. 3.3. The sectional plane is tilted forward and backward, respectively. The tilting causes deflection of the ultrasound beam, with poor reflection of the labrum, which is inadequately seen

hip joint without the pivotal point of the centre of the acetabulum being seen, i.e. the lower limb of the os ilium.

NB. "No lower limb, no diagnosis" (one single exception, see Sect. 3.2.4).

#### 3.2 The Problem of the Variable Bone Coverage of the Femoral Head

For reasons that reach back to evolution, from walking on four feet to the upright biped position (during which the pelvis has rotated), the posterior part of the bony acetabular roof is better developed than the mid or anterior parts (Fig. 3.4). It is possible to differentiate whether the sectional plane passes through the anterior, mid or posterior part by the characteristic shape of the iliac bone immediately above the acetabulum in each of the three planes. If one compares the anterior and posterior sections from the same joint, it is clear that the bony coverage seems better developed posteriorly than in the mid or anterior sections.

#### 3.2.1 Shape of the Posterior Section

If the standard vertical projection is used, the iliac silhouette above the bony rim is concave towards the right of the picture, i.e. away from the transducer. The concavity is the gluteal fossa which is situated in the posterior part of the iliac wing. The bony rim itself appears rounded or "nose shaped".

#### 3.2.2 The Mid Section

The iliac silhouette above the bony rim is straight and parallel to the transducer (and the edge of the monitor).

#### 3.2.3 Anterior Sections (Fig. 3.7)

The iliac silhouette above the bony rim slopes outwards towards the transducer.

A summary is given in Figs. 3.4–3.7.

#### 3.2.4 Exceptions and Variations on the Typical Sectional Silhouettes

The lower limb of the os ilium must always been seen except in markedly decentred hip joints. When the femoral head slides out the socket, it slides not only proximally but also posteriorly.



**Fig. 3.4.** Typical contours and silhouettes of the acetabular roof in: *1*, anterior sectional plane; *2*, standard plane; *3*, posterior sectional plane





**Fig. 3.5.** The posterior sectional plane. Using the anatomical projection as a reference, the silhouette of the iliac bone in the posterior sectional plane bends to the right, away from the probe (*solid line*)



**Fig. 3.6.** The middle sectional planes (the standard plane). The contour and the silhouette of the iliac bone are straight and parallel to the probe



**Fig. 3.7.** The anterior sectional plane. The silhouette of the iliac bone bends to the left, towards the probe (*solid line*)

The displaced femoral head and the acetabulum, with its lower limb of the os ilium, are therefore in different planes. Therefore if one follows the displaced femoral head, the ultrasound plane is no longer in the standard plane. The direction of

displacement of the femoral head means that it is usually the posterior sectional plane that is seen (Fig. 3.8).

In displaced hips the important thing is to differentiate where the femoral head has pressed the hyaline cartilage of the acetabular roof: cranially (type III) or caudally (type IV).

In decentred (=displaced) joints one can differentiate between type III and type IV even if the lower limb of the os ilium is not visible.

*Note:* The differentiation between type III and type IV is morphological not by measurement.

The system for orientation given in Sect. 3.2 (Figs. 3.4–3.7): Anterior sectional plane, silhouette slanting towards the transducer, mid sectional plane silhouette parallel to the transducer, posterior plane silhouette concave and slanting away from the transducer hold good except in some decentred joints with a markedly flattened dysplastic (socket) when the mid plane looks like an anterior plane.

The only consistently reproducible scan section is the posterior section. This, therefore, is the starting point for a tomogram-like examination of the acetabular roof. This should be used when it is impossible to get an iliac silhouette which runs parallel to the transducer immediately in a standard examination. In these cases the hip joint must be carefully examined to find the standard plane, starting orientation with the posterior sectional plane and rotating slowly "step by

**G** Fig. 3.8. a Principles of hip luxation shown on an adult skeleton: the femoral head has decentred dorsocranially. The femoral head is located posteriorly and is not visible in the standard plane but only in the posterior sectional plane. The lower limb of the os ilium will often not be visible in the same plane as the femoral head, as these landmarks are located in different planes. *1*, Plane in the gluteal fossa; *2*, standard plane. **b** *1*, Posterior plane with the concavity of the gluteal fossa; *2*, dislocated head; *3*, deformed and downwardly pressed cartilage acetabular roof (example of a type IV hip joint, according to a) step" more anteriorly until the plane moves out of the gluteal fossa.

#### 3.2.5 Definition of the Mid Section of Acetabular Roof

The mid section is reached when, having identified the posterior plane, the plane rotates about the lower limb of the os ilium until it leaves the gluteal fossa. This is easily identified as the concavity straightens. "Straight" does not necessary mean parallel to the edge of the monitor!

#### **Important Practical Tip**

The system:

- Posterior section goes away from the transducer (iliac contour is concave and goes to the right on the monitor.)
- Mid section iliac silhouette parallel to the transducer (parallel to the monitor).
- Anterior section the iliac silhouette angles towards the transducer (iliac echo leans to the left on the monitor).

It usually works in everyday practice to find the standard plane. If, for some reason as described in Sects. 3.2.1–3.2.3, your orientation is difficult to achieve, then find the posterior plane and rotate the transducer in a tomogram-like way from the posterior plane to the exact definition of the mid section (Sect. 3.2.5).

#### 3.2.6 The Question of Reproducibility

The mid portion of the acetabular roof is essentially the weight-bearing portion in the upright, walking position. Although, in principle, every acetabular roof can be examined as in a tomogram with a number of different sections, to get a reproducible standard plane, which can be used for comparisons, only the mid plane must be used (standard plane = measurement plane).

Only a section that is the standard sectional plane can be evaluated and measured. A section which is not in the standard plane is not relevant for diagnosis or treatment (for exception, see Sect. 3.2.4, decentred joints).

One can only establish whether the sectional plane passes through the middle of the acetabular roof, or too far anterior or posterior, if the lower limb of the os ilium is seen. If it is seen then the middle portion of the acetabular roof is identified by the shape of the iliac contour above the acetabulum (see Sect. 3.2).

Only if the lower limb of the os ilium and the sectional plane are both correct does it make sense to try and identify the third landmark, the acetabular labrum. The acetabular labrum may sometimes be difficult to see, but its position must be identified even if, as in type III b joints (see Sect. 5.3) where the cartilage roof is echogenic throughout, the labrum cannot be seen as a separate structure on ultrasound. Using the "guides" to the site of the labrum it is possible to identify even the small, poorly defined labrum. If it cannot be seen, the sonogram is useless. If the ultrasound beam is vertical to the labrum it can usually be seen well. If, however, the beam is tilted the labrum may not be seen at all (Fig. 3.3).

#### **Key Points:**

- A plane needs three coordinates (land-marks).
- The standard plane is defined through:
  - The lower limb of the os ilium
  - subitem>The mid section of the bony acetabular roof
  - The acetabular labrum
- Hip joints must only be evaluated and measured in the standard plane (exception: decentred joints evaluated but not measured).

# 4 Identifying the Anatomy and Checking the Landmarks and Tilting Effects



#### Contents

4.1	Anatomical Identification	 28

- 4.2 Checking the Landmarks ..... 28
- 4.3 Checking a Hip Sonogram ..... 30
Before a hip sonogram can be evaluated, the echoes on a sonogram must be identified as anatomical structures in a methodical way. Once this has been done, the sonogram should be checked to see whether it meets the criteria for the standard sectional plane. The anatomical identification should always be completed prior to checking the sectional plane landmarks, never the reverse.

Tilting effects are checked last (Chap. 12).

# 4.1 Anatomical Identification

In order to avoid mistakes, the anatomical structures should always be identified in the following order:

- **1.** Chondro-osseous junction (epiphyseal plate of the femur)
- 2. Femoral head
- **3.** Synovial fold (to avoid confusion with the acetabular labrum!)
- **4.** Joint capsule (avoid confusion with an intermuscular septum)

- **5.** Acetabular labrum (see help points in Sect. 2.5.2)
- **6.** Invariable anatomical sequence of the acetabular roof from lateral to medial
  - a. Labrum
  - b. Cartilage acetabular roof
  - c. Bony socket
  - Sequence a-b-c is always the same: which is equivalent to the "invariable sequence" or "standard sequence".
- **7.** Define the osseous rim (=the point where the concavity of the socket turns to a convexity) (see Sect. 2.5.4)

#### 4.2 Checking the Landmarks

Following the identification of the anatomical structures, the sonogram is examined to check whether it is in the correct sectional plane. To define a plane in 3D, three coordinates or land-marks are required.

For a diagnostic, measurable sonogram, the three landmarks that must be present are: the



□ Fig. 4.1. a Correct order of the anatomical identification of infant hip sonographic image: 1, chondro-osseous junction; 2, femoral Head; 3, synovial fold; 4, joint capsule; 5, acetabular labrum; 6, hyaline cartilage pre-



formed acetabular roof; 7, bony part of acetabular roof; 8, bony rim: turning point from concavity to convexity. **b** Correct order of the anatomical identification of an infant hip sonographic image (see **a**)





**G Fig. 4.2.** a Checklist points of the anatomical identification prior to reading a sonogram. *1*, Lower limb of the os ilium; *2*, standard sectional plane; *3*, acetabular labrum. Sonogram is acceptable for reading only if all three landmarks are present. **b** Image obtained with posterior tilting of the probe: The lower iliac limb is clearly visible; however, the sectional plane is posterior. This sonogram cannot be used for diagnostic interpretation. **c** A sonogram performed through a posterior sectional plane: The lower limb of the iliac bone and the labrum are not visible. This sonogram cannot be used for diagnostic interpretation

lower limb of the os ilium, the mid portion of the acetabular roof and the acetabular labrum.

First check that the tip of the lower limb of the os ilium is shown. It is possible, by tilting the transducer, to produce an iliac silhouette that looks like that of the standard (mid) section but which does not pass through the centre of the acetabulum. In order to avoid this mistake it is essential, when evaluating the sectional plane, to check that the pivot point (inferior limb of the os ilium) is found first. The most important guiding principle in hip ultrasound is, in short:

#### **Three landmarks**

- Lower limb (os ilium)
- Section (mid portion of the acetabular roof, Sect. 3.2)
- Labrum

If just one of these important landmarks is missing, the sonogram must not be evaluated.

*Except* when, in a decentred hip joint, the displaced femoral head slides out of the socket in a supero-posterior direction and therefore leaves the standard sectional plane. In these circumstances the inferior margin of the os ilium is often not seen and the sectional plane is usually posterior. These sonograms can be evaluated descriptively (anatomically) (whether type III or IV) but may certainly not be measured (Sect. 3.2.4).

**NB.** Pay special attention to the order of identification of the three landmarks. Only if the lower margin of the os ilium is shown can one proceed to check the sectional plane and lastly the labrum.

# **Key Points:**

- The lower limb of the os ilium must always be present except in decentred hip joints.
- A hip sonogram can only be evaluated if all three landmarks are shown (except in decentred joints, see above).
- Anterior, mid (standard) and posterior sections can usually be distinguished from one another by the shape of the iliac bone proximal to the bony acetabular rim.
- When difficulties arise in finding the standard plane, it can be found by starting in the posterior section and slowly rotating about the lower limb until the standard plane is reached.
- Only sonograms in the standard plane may be measured.
- Anatomical identification always before landmark check!

#### 4.3 Checking a Hip Sonogram

Start always with the anatomical identification first (epiphyseal plate, femoral head, etc. ...: labrum ... concavity-convexity?). Do not accept a sonogram when one of the anatomical points is not clearly identifiable.

A hip sonogram may only be further evaluated for diagnosis if the three landmarks (lower limb of os ilium, mid sections of the acetabular roof, and labrum) are visible and it is in the "standard" plane.

Additional check:

- 1. Are there tilting effects?
- **2.** Is the correct scale being used? (Minimum 1:1.7) Smaller sonograms may not be used.

# 5 Definition of Types



# Contents

5.1	Туре І	33
5.2	Туре II	34
5.3	Type III	34
5.4	Type IV	35
5.5	Differentiation Between Ossification and	
	Degeneration	35
5.5.1	Ossification	35
5.5.2	Structural Disorder (Degeneration)	36
5.5.3	How to Assess Echogenicity in the	
	Hvaline Cartilage Acetabular Roof	36

The ultrasound typing correlates with the pathological changes in the hip joint rather than with the height of the dislocated femoral head. The height of the dislocated femoral head does not automatically correlate with the severity of the anatomical deformity.

There are two forms of hip dislocation.

- 1. The hip joint fails to form properly during embryological development. The femoral head and socket show severe deformities and the femoral head was never in the correct position (teratological form). The cell configuration for the labrum, bony roof and hyaline cartilage were never normal (arthrogryposis multiplex).
- 2. Initially the femoral head was positioned in the socket but certain biomechanical factors cause the normal development to cease and the femoral head begins to slide out of the socket deforming the acetabulum (developing dislocation of the hip–DDH).

#### **Basic Principles**

If a femoral head slides out of the socket, this process of dislocation leads to deformity. This is primarily of the cartilage part of the acetabular roof but, inevitably, the bony portion becomes damaged also. The femoral head leaves "grinding marks" on the acetabular roof during the process of dislocation.

Through accurate analysis of the pathological changes in the cartilage and bony socket it is possible to state the severity of the pathology affecting the hip joint. Eventually these pathological changes need to be reversed by treatment without causing further iatrogenic damage to the femoral head (avascular necrosis). The ultrasound "types" of the hip joint therefore classify the bony and cartilaginous socket. The more accurate and precise the typing, the more appropriate and precise the treatment can be.



**Fig. 5.1.** a The bony roof is good; the bony rim is sharp; the cartilaginous roof covers the femoral head.



**b** Description according to **a**: standard sectional plane; type I hip joint

### 5.1 Type I

The hip joint is mature. This means that the degree of ossification is appropriate for a hip joint in a 3-month-old. The bony socket is well developed. The bony rim is angular or slightly blunt. The cartilaginous acetabular roof encloses the femoral head holding it firmly in the socket (the cartilage "covers" the head). A type I hip joint may be present at birth when there may even be an ultrasonically demonstrable femoral head ossific nucleus.

Question: When can a type I hip joint deteriorate?

Answer: When there is:

 A neuromuscular abnormality: This results in an imbalance of muscular forces on the hip joint. These forces affect the growth of the socket enormously. With pathological muscle tension the balance of forces in the hip joint changes and abnormal or inadequate growth occurs (e.g. in diplegia).

- **2.** Hip joint effusion: In cases of "coxitis" the joint congruity alters because of the effusion (distension–dislocation). The femoral head dislocates out of a well-developed socket.
- **3.** Wrong diagnosis: The hip joint was not a type I in the first place.
- 4. Previously decentred joints: ("secondary dysplasia") hips that have been treated and have become a type I should be followed up radiologically until the end of growth. For unknown reasons, disorders of growth can occur later. An initially "healed" joint may later develop a secondary dysplasia.

An explanation for this phenomenon is partial damage to the chondro-osseous border of the acetabular roof during head displacement. As a result, ossification is incomplete even with correct treatment and finally results in a dysplastic bony acetabular roof.



**Fig. 5.2.** a The bony roof is deficient; the bony rim is round; the cartilaginous roof covers the femoral head. *Attention:* The bony rim is described by its shape:



sharp/round /flat. Topographically, the bony rim (marked by an *arrow*) is the point of transition from concavity to convexity (measurement point).

### 5.2 Type II

This is also a centred joint but the bony acetabular roof is "deficiently" developed, the bony rim is rounded and the cartilaginous portion of the acetabular roof seems proportionately larger; however, it encloses the femoral head. The total coverage (bony socket plus cartilage socket) keeps the femoral head firmly in the socket.

Definitions:

- Deficient: A real deficit or dysplasia. Where the bony coverage of the femoral head is inadequate for the age of the infant (IIa, IIb, IIc).
- Sufficient: Meaning adequate. The term "sufficient" is used in cases where the joint is of appropriate maturity for the age yet still physiologically immature. (Type II a+; see Sect. 8.1.1). The difference between types IIa/ b and IIc can only be determined by measurement and will be explained in Sect. 8.1.1 on measurement technique. Type D is the first stage of a decentred joint and is explained in Sect. 8.2.2.

### 5.3 Type III

A decentred (dislocated) joint. The bony socket is poorly developed, the bony rim is flattened and the cartilaginous acetabular roof is pushed cranially, i.e. displaced upwards. Due to the poor bony development, the femoral head has dislocated. As it has dislocated it has pushed the majority of the cartilage roof cranially and only a small part of the cartilage is pressed caudally (downwards) towards the original acetabulum.

Type III is subdivided into type IIIa and IIIb:

- Type IIIa: The femoral head has pushed the cartilaginous acetabular roof cranially, but the shearing forces have not caused histological change in the hyaline cartilage of the acetabular roof. The hyaline cartilage is therefore still hypoechoic and is seen as a "sound hole".
- Type IIIb: Due to pressure and shearing on the deformed cartilaginous roof by the dislocating femoral head, pathological changes to the structure of the hyaline cartilage have occurred. These changes create echoes in the



□ Fig. 5.3. a The decentred femoral head presses the cartilaginous roof upwards . Most of the cartilage is pressed up; a small part is pressed down. The femoral head is in a secondary moulding. The echogenicity of the hyaline cartilage roof is the same as the echogenicity of the femoral head. b The bony roof is poor, the osseous rim is flat, and the cartilaginous roof is dis-



placed up. There is no difference in the echogenicity of the cartilaginous acetabular roof compared with the cartilaginous femoral head: both structures are hyaline cartilage. Impression: type IIIa hip. *1*, Acetabular labrum; *2*, "proximal perichondrium"; *3*, cranially displaced hyaline cartilaginous roof; *4*, flat osseous rim

hyaline cartilage. This echogenicity, in the hyaline cartilage of the acetabular roof of decentred hips, is defined as "structural disorder" or "degeneration". Type IIIb hip joints have become rarities because of early screening and are seen very seldom.

## 5.4 Type IV

Type IV joints are also decentred. The cartilaginous acetabular roof is pushed downwards (caudally) by the displaced femoral head towards the original acetabulum. Type III and type IV joints are both dislocated joints. The term "subluxed" is a clinical term and must not be used for type III joints.

*Attention:* A distinction can be made between type III and type IV joints by observing the course of the perichondrium (Fig. 5.4a, b). The perichondrium indicates the whereabouts of the hyaline cartilage acetabular roof: cranial or caudal. The position of the labrum is irrelevant. If the perichondrium slopes cranially, it is a type III joint. If it is horizontal towards the bony socket, or dips caudally and then rises towards the bony acetabular roof (trough shaped), it is a type IV joint.

# 5.5 Differentiation Between Ossification and Degeneration

#### 5.5.1 Ossification

In type II joints (centred) the wide, as yet unossified, cartilage roof must ultimately ossify in order to turn into a type I joint. This process of ossification of the hyaline cartilage occurs in the same way as the development of the femoral head ossific nucleus. Echoes therefore develop in the hyaline cartilage as a result of the ossification process. As with the echoes that develop in the nucleus (see Sect. 2.4.1), ossification is detected by ultrasound earlier than it can be seen on a x-ray. The hip joint therefore looks better de-

a IV

□ Fig. 5.4. a Comparison between type III and type IV hip joints: in type III hip joints, the perichondrium is displaced upwards. In type IV hip joints, the echo from the perichondrium dips downwards, or runs horizontally to the bony roof; the cartilaginous roof is compressed between the femoral head and the bony roof



and is pressed in the direction of the original acetabulum. The cartilaginous acetabular roof no longer covers the femoral head. **b** Sonographic image, according to **a**. *1*, Dip of the perichondrium; *2*, downwardly displaced cartilaginous roof; *3*, fatty tissue fills the empty acetabular socket

veloped on a sonogram than on an x-ray taken at the same time. The x-ray cannot detect the earliest stages of ossification. The sonogram is 4–6 weeks ahead of the x-ray. An example of this "secondary" ossification is the improvement and changing shape of the bony rim. This secondary ossification does not show as echogenicity throughout the hyaline cartilage but rather as an angulated contour to the bony rim in "sufficient" bony coverage (Fig. 5.5).

Thus, an angular contour of the bony rim is always a good prognostic sign.

### 5.5.2 Structural Disorder (Degeneration)

Degenerative changes in the hyaline cartilage that occur due to pressure and shearing forces lead to echogenicity in the hyaline cartilage defined as "structural disorder". The echoes look the same whether they are due to ossification or degeneration. Which they are due to can only be determined by identifying the type of hip joint.

Attention: Ossification in centred joints. Degeneration in decentred joints.

# 5.5.3 How to Assess Echogenicity in the Hyaline Cartilage Acetabular Roof

The hyaline cartilage acetabular roof can only be said to be echogenic, whether due to ossification or degeneration, under these circumstances:

- 1. Comparison with the femoral head (Fig. 5.6). In order to exclude machine-made (artefactual) echoes, the echogenicity of the acetabular roof hyaline cartilage must be compared with that of the femoral head hyaline cartilage.
- **2.** Artefacts (Fig. 5.7). In the proximal portion of the hyaline cartilage acetabular roof, between



□ Fig. 5.5. Schematic drawing of the physiological maturation of a deficient acetabular roof: The bony rim undergoes metamorphosis, changing its shape over time and extending towards the cartilaginous acetabular roof. The extension of the bony rim within the cartilaginous roof improves the shape of the bony roof



□ Fig. 5.6. Assessing the echogenicity of the cartilaginous roof: the echoes originating from the hyaline cartilage roof must be compared with the echoes originating from the hyaline femoral head

the proximal perichondrium and the ilium, extra echoes can be found that are artefacts (reverberations) and not structural alterations in the hyaline cartilage. The hyaline cartilage acetabular roof can only be called "echogenic" if the entire hyaline cartilage roof is affected. This is especially important in differentiating type IIIa and type IIIb. During the process of dislocation with the displacement of the cartilaginous acetabular roof, the proximal perichondrium and the adjacent rectus tendon are compressed. These resulting echoes must not be mistaken as degeneration in the proximal portion of the hyaline cartilage acetabular roof.

## **Key Points:**

- There are four main sonographic types, dependant on age, degree of ossification and degree of displacement.
- Type III and type IV are both decentred hips with different deformations of the hyaline cartilage roof.
- "Secondary" ossification means growth of the bony acetabular roof. "Degeneration" means pathological change in the structure of the hyaline cartilage of the acetabular roof.
- Ossification can be differentiated from degeneration by the sonographic type (centred-decentred).



**Fig. 5.7.** a The echoes originating from the proximal aspect of the cartilaginous roof should not be confused with echoes originating from other structures. **b** Infant



hip sonogram showing echogenicity in the proximal part of the hyaline cartilaginous roof: reverberations

# **6** Ultrasound Classification



# Contents

6.1	Description	40
6.1.1	Basic Terms and Possible Variations	40
6.1.2	Exceptions to the Systematic Description	42
6.2	Systematic Reporting of a Sonogram	43

#### 6.1 Description

The structures of the acetabulum, which are of importance for ultrasound, are described. Over the course of time, some standardized terms have proved to be good for this description. It must, however, be understood that a description is only a subjective impression, and therefore cannot replace an objective, reproducible, quantifiable measurement technique. Nevertheless, the description should continue to be taught and learnt during training courses. This way the observer learns to analyse the hip joint systematically and is forced to put the shape and structure of the three essentials - bony acetabular roof, bony rim and the cartilaginous acetabular roof - into specific categories which finally leads to a diagnosis. As the description itself is not sufficient for diagnosis but is complimented by an ever-improving measurement technique, the descriptive terms have been simplified and are summarised in Table 6.1.

# 6.1.1 Basic Terms and Possible Variations

- The terms used for the bony socket: "good" (type I), "deficient" (type II) and "poor" (decentred joints).
- Deficient is used for type II joints. A possible alternative is the term "adequate". The term "deficient" is used when the bony socket is not developed well enough with respect to the age of the baby. This is the case in type IIa(-), type IIb and type IIc hips.
- The term "adequate" is also used in type II joints; however, only when the bony development is appropriate for the age as in type IIa(+) hips.

For the bony rim the terms "angular" (type I) "rounded" (type II) and "flat" (decentred joints) have been chosen. A variation of the angular bony rim is the "blunt" bony rim (Fig. 6.1a–c); these contours of the bony rim can also be observed on x-rays. Two different joints with almost the same AC angle can show different contours to the bony rim: one may be angular whilst the other is rather blunt or slightly rounded.

The cartilaginous acetabular roof can be either "covering" (covering the femoral head) or pushed aside ("displaced"). The term "covering" is meant for centred hips and means that the cartilaginous acetabular roof overlaps the femoral head and helps to hold it in the socket.

The term "displaced" is synonymous with a decentred hip joint. The femoral head has deformed the cartilaginous acetabular roof. If the term "displaced" is used it must refer to a decentred joint. Further differentiation is necessary:

- Pushed cranially with no echogenicity in the hyaline acetabular roof = type IIIa.
- Pushed cranially echogenicity in the hyaline acetabular roof (disordered structure) = type IIIb (rarity!).
- Pushed caudally = type IV.

Descriptive examples:

- The bony socket is good, the bony rim blunt, the cartilaginous acetabular roof is covering. Diagnosis = type I.
- **2.** The bony socket is poor, the bony rim is flattened, the cartilaginous acetabular roof is pushed cranially with echoes. Diagnosis = type IIIb.
- **3.** The bony socket is good, the bony rim rounded, the cartilaginous acetabular roof is pushed caudally. This description is impossible because this kind of hip joint cannot exist. The term "good" is used for type I and the term "displaced" is used for decentred joints. These two terms contradict each other. Furthermore, the femoral head would not normally dislocate out of a well-developed bony socket (for exception, see Sect. 5.1).

Type according to Graf	Bony roof/ bony roof angle α	Superior bony rim (bony promontory)	Cartilaginous roof/ cartilage roof angle β	Age
Type I mature hip	good $\alpha \ge 60^{\circ}$	angular / slightly rounded ("blunt")	covers the femoral head I $a \Rightarrow \beta < 55^{\circ}$ (extending far distance over the femoral head) I $b \Rightarrow \beta > 55^{\circ}$ (extending short distance over the femoral head)	any age
Type II a (+) physiological immature → appropriate for age	adequate (satisfactory) $\alpha = 50-59^{\circ}$ (minimal degree of maturity is attain – look at the "sonometer")	rounded	covers the femoral head	0 to 12 weeks
Type II a (-) physiological immature → maturational deficite	deficient $\alpha = 50-59^{\circ}$ (minimal degree of maturity is not attain – look at the "sonometer")	rounded	covers the femoral head	>6 to 12 weeks
Type II b delay of ossification	deficient $\alpha = 50-59^{\circ}$	rounded	covers the femoral head	>12 weeks
EXEPTION: Type II coming to maturity	deficient	angular (!)	covers the femoral head, (echogenic because of ossification!)	any age
<b>Type II c</b> (critical age) II c stable / II c unstable	severely deficient $\alpha = 43 - 49^{\circ}$	rounded to flattened	still covers the femoral head $\beta\!<\!77^\circ$	any age
Type D decentering hip $\Rightarrow \beta > 77^{\circ}$	severely deficient $\alpha = 43 - 49^{\circ}$	rounded to flattened	displaced β<77°	any age
Type III a eccentric hip $\rightarrow \alpha < 43^{\circ}$	poor a<43°	flattened	pressed upwards – without structural alteration (devoid of echoes) proximal perichondrium goes up to the contour of the iliac wall	any age
Type III b eccentric hip $\rightarrow \alpha < 43^{\circ}$	poor a<43°	flattened	pressed upwards – with structural alteration (they are echogenic) proximal perichondrium goes up to the contour of the iliac wall	any age
Type IV eccentric hip $\rightarrow \alpha < 43^{\circ}$	poor a < 43°	flattened	pressed downwards (horizontal or mulded proximal perichondrium	any age

# **☑ Table 6.1.** Synopsis of sonographic hip types





# 6.1.2 Exceptions to the Systematic Description

The descriptive terms for a certain type usually keep to the horizontal lines shown in Table 6.1. If the descriptions come from a different type, the initial diagnosis is usually wrong. There is only one exception to this rule (Table 6.1 variation) "bony acetabular roof deficient, bony rim angular and cartilage acetabular roof covering": this is the only description which is an accepted exception to the rule.

*Explanation:* The description "deficient" signals a type II joint. The cartilaginous acetabular roof "covering" could be either a type I or a type II joint. (In the case described above, the cartilage roof is usually noticeably wider than in a typical type I joint.) The description of the bony rim being "angular" fits with a type I joint. This obvious discrepancy is explained by secondary ossification (Fig. 6.2).

Such joints, by measurement of the their bony coverage, are type II joints. However, the ossification occurring in the cartilage roof at its junction with the bony acetabulum has already caused the osseous rim to change from round to angular. A similar phenomenon can be seen on an x-ray. When a dysplastic joint is being treated, the first sign of recovery is a small angular contour on the bony rim even though the entire socket, according to the high acetabular roof (AC) angle, is still dysplastic.



☑ Fig. 6.1. a Examples of: 1, sharp osseous rim; 2, blunt osseous rim. b The bony roof is good; the osseous rim is sharp; the hyaline cartilage roof covers the femoral head. Type I hip. c Example of a blunt osseous rim. Compare with the image in b

# 6.2 Systematic Reporting of a Sonogram

The clinical report of a hip sonogram must contain the following points:

- **1.** A statement about the age.
- 2. Description Congruity!
- **3.** Type
- 4. Alpha angle, beta angle.
- **5.** Further management (follow-up, treatment, or discharge).

The first step in compiling a report on a sonogram is the anatomical identification (epiphyseal plate – femoral head – synovial fold – labrum – invariable sequence – identification of the bony rim).

The second step: check the three landmarks and tilting effects.

The third step: description of the structures: bony socket – bony rim – cartilaginous acetabular roof.

By now a preliminary hip type can be stated but it must be confirmed by the fourth step: measurement with alpha and beta angles. The descriptive findings and the hip type by mea-

### **Key Points:**

- Four major hip types with subtypes (watch the age!).
- The description states the preliminary hip type which must be confirmed by measurement. The description is subjective and cannot replace the measurement (do it by facts not by feeling!).
- Use the correct systematic procedure:
  - Age
  - Description
  - Typing through ... {congruity is necessary!}
    - description
    - measurement
  - Further management



■ Fig. 6.2. Typical "high" sharp osseous rim, which is the sonographic expression of physiological ossification in type II hips. *Two arrows* mark the osseous rim; a *circle* marks the turning point

surement must coincide (be congruent). If there is a discrepancy it must be verified whether the description or the measurement is incorrect. For practical reasons it is recommended that the age (in weeks) is noted on the sonogram in addition to the name and date of birth.

# 7 Measurement Technique



# Contents

7.1	The Bony Roof Line (Fig. 7.1a)	46
7.2	Base Line (Fig. 7.2a-c)	46
7.2.1	Auxiliary Base Line (Help Line) (Fig. 7.2c/d)	48
7.3	Cartilage Roof Line (Fig. 7.3a–c)	48

The measurement lines that have been adapted for sonographic practice do not have strict mathematical definitions. Two angles emerge from the lines; these are the bony angle alpha which quantifies the bony socket and the cartilage angle beta which quantifies the cartilaginous acetabular roof. With these two angles, the entire socket with its bony and cartilaginous parts can be accurately assigned to a specific hip type. This measurement system with alpha and beta angles has the advantage that it is not dependent on either the position of the baby or the projection. It is not tied down by the position of the femoral head and is therefore irrespective of the position of the leg. Furthermore it is not dependent on the presence of the femoral head ossification centre. Other measurement systems with factors, quotients etc., do not improve the measurement results and precision.

All measurement techniques which include the size of the femoral head, the "centre" or the nucleus are no more than eyeballing: the head is not round but more or less oval, no centre can be accurately defined and the nucleus is not the centre of the femoral head!

### 7.1 The Bony Roof Line (Fig. 7.1a)

The inferior rim of the os ilium is a pivot point from which a line is drawn laterally "tangential" to the bony roof.

*Attention:* For practical reasons, the definition reads "tangential" to the bony roof rather than tangential to the bony rim.

Problems:

- 1. The osseous rim artefact (Fig. 7.1b). If the wrong focus is used a pointed strip may be seen on the bony rim. It is important that this osseous rim artefact is not mistaken for the actual osseous rim.
- **2.** Problems with the lower limb of the os ilium (Fig. 7.1c). The lower limb of the os ilium

must be a clearly defined echo and must not be a faint or fading echo.

3. A further problem for the identification of the lower limb of the os ilium is caused by the anatomical circumstances. Caudal to the lower limb of the os ilium is the hypoechoic zone of the triradiate cartilage. Lateral to the lower limb the echoes of the fatty tissue in the acetabular fossa are seen. Even further laterally, the echo of the ligamentum teres runs caudally to cranially to the central fovea of the femoral head. Therefore it is possible, with bad tuning of the equipment or a bad scanning technique, that the echoes of the fatty tissue obscure the precise definition of the os ilium. The lower limb is not seen as a spot but is striped caudolaterally. The second error is to mistake the lower limb for the central fovea. This is, however, easy to avoid as gentle rotation of the femoral head causes the echo of the central fovea to vanish, whereas the lower limb of the os ilium stays in position (Fig. 7.1d).

# 7.2 Base Line (Fig. 7.2a-c)

First the upper-most portion of the hyaline cartilage roof must be found. This is the point where the proximal perichondrium turns into the periosteum. Anatomically, this is the upper insertion point of the rectus tendon. From this pivot point the base line is drawn caudally tangential to the echo of the os ilium.

Problems:

- **1.** The available measurement guide that the base line is laid on may be very short.
- 2. The so-called upper-most point as a necessary starting point for the base line cannot be identified. In this case it is necessary to use the so-called subsidiary line through the acoustic shadow of the wing of the os ilium with a replacement base line. (Auxiliary base line or help line.)











**G G Fig. 7.1. a** The acetabular roof line runs tangentially from the lower limb of the iliac bone to the bony roof. **b** Artefacts at the osseous rim: *1*, correctly drawn bony roof line (acetabular roof line); *2*, incorrectly drawn bony roof line; *3*, the artefact of the osseous rim, resulting from poor focusing of the probe. **c** The lower limb of os ilium must be clearly separated from the surrounding soft tissue: **d** *1*, fovea centralis; *2*, round ligament; *3*, pulvinar; *4*, triradiate cartilage; *5*, perichondrium on the inner side of the pelvis. **e** *1*, Fovea centralis; *2*, lower limb of os ilium

a

**Fig. 7.2.** a The base line runs tangential to the os ilium at the top of the cartilaginous roof. b *1*, Turning point of the perichondrium to the periosteum (in-

# 7.2.1 Auxiliary Base Line (Help Line) (Fig. 7.2c/d)

When the ultrasound beam is reflected after having passed through the muscles, the perichondrium and the hyaline acetabular roof, it hits the lateral wall of the os ilium, penetrates it superficially and is then totally reflected. Thereby, an acoustic shadow is caused. This line is consequently parallel to the base line and the alpha angle with the bony roof line will be the same



sertion point of the rectus tendon). c/d Base line with auxiliary line.

whether the base line or the auxiliary base line are used. The bony angle, alpha, quantifies the bony acetabular roof.

# 7.3 Cartilage Roof Line (Fig. 7.3a-c)

This is sometimes called the "inclination line". It is drawn from the bony rim through the centre of the acetabular labrum.











**G G Fig. 7.3.** a The cartilaginous roof line connects the osseous rim (turning point of concavity to convexity) with the middle of the labrum. *1*, Turning of concavity to convexity, marked with a small acoustic shadow. b *1*, Correctly drawn cartilaginous roof line; *2*, incorrectly drawn cartilaginous roof line, c Bony roof line, base line, and cartilaginous roof line do not always intersect at the same point

#### Problems:

- 1. The bony rim cannot be pin-pointed because the osseous rim definition "concavity to convexity" is not being properly applied. The bony rim is not necessarily the intersection point between the base line and acetabular roof line. The base line, acetabular roof line and cartilage roof line seldom intersect at the same point (Fig. 7.3b); this only occurs in type I joints with an angular bony rim.
- 2. The "centre" of the acetabular labrum: Older definitions took the tip of the acetabular labrum as the second measurement point. Unfortunately, however, the tip of the labrum cannot always be identified despite high-definition and well-adjusted equipment. Due to this lack of precision, the second measurement point which is currently being used is defined as the "middle" of the echo of the acetabular labrum.

The angle between the base line and the cartilage roof line is the cartilage angle beta. This quantifies the cartilaginous acetabular roof.

# **Key Points:**

- Measurement lines giving the bone angle alpha and the cartilage angle beta.
- Magnified scale on the sonograms of at least 1:1.7, otherwise the measurements are not accurate enough.
- The bony rim must be clearly identified as a measurement point.
- The bony rim in the description means the shape of the whole area (angular, round, flat). The bony rim for the measurement is an exact point ("concavity to convexity").
- The base line, cartilage roof line and acetabular roof line seldom intersect at one point. Only in type I joints with a really sharp bony rim do the lines intersect at one point. But this type is seldom seen (20% of all type I joints); most of type I joints have a "blunt" bony rim).
- Sonograms must only be measured in the standard plane.

# 8 Classification Using the Sonometer



#### Contents

8.1	The Alpha Values	52
8.1.1	Subdivision of the Type II Joint	52
8.1.2	The Sonographic Alpha Value and the Radiological AC Angle	53
8.2	The Beta Value	53
8.2.1	Type Ia and Type Ib Hips	53
8.2.2	Туре D Нір	54
8.3	Classification in Premature Infants	55
8.4	Certainty of the Diagnosis	55



Fig. 8.1. Sonometer

If all the hip types with their alpha and beta angles are entered in a line, a table called the sonometer results. Using this, all joints can be classified according to their type, degree of maturation and their angle measurements taking into account the age of the joint.

The following questions can then be answered – *Is the hip joint for the baby's age*:

- 1. Normal?
- **2.** In need of monitoring?
- **3.** In need of treatment, or in some cases close monitoring with possible treatment later?
- 4. Definitely in need of treatment?

An alternative system to the sonometer is the maturation curve which underlies the sonometer. However, the classification is not as rigid, but one and two standard deviations can also be used to indicate the requirement for monitoring and treatment.

# 8.1 The Alpha Values

When all the alpha values are placed along one line, this can be divided into three large sections (Fig. 8.1):

- **1.** The middle section from 43° to 59° (type II joint).
- **2.** 60° and more (type I joint).
- **3.** 42° and less (decentred joint; for exception, see Sect. 9.2).

The important transition points are firstly from type II to type I and secondly the change from type II to decentred (stable or unstable?).

NB. 420 or less means that the socket is so flat that the femoral head cannot be kept in the original acetabulum by the cartilaginous acetabular roof and therefore dislocates out of the socket. Whether it is a type III or type IV joint depends on the deformity of the acetabular roof and not on the alpha value. Therefore the classification of type III and type IV cannot be carried out with the alpha value. The classification of type III and type IV is anatomical and not a measurement.

By the end of the 12th week of life, a type I joint must be attained, therefore an alpha value of at least 60° or more.

#### 8.1.1 Subdivision of the Type II Joint

- Type IIa: Alpha value between 50° and 59°, physiologically immature joint. Type IIa joints can be subdivided into type IIa(+) or type IIa(-) dependent on the age.
- Type IIa (+): During the first 3 months of life the hip joint matures in an exponential fash-

ion. To be on the safe side we always deal only with a linear maturation. In a newborn the minimum alpha value that can be expected to become a type I by the end of the third month is alpha 50°. Ossification will have to progress in a linear fashion from birth to 3 months and to have reached a certain degree of ossification each week. A hip joint that attains this minimum degree of maturation or more is called a type IIa (+), e.g. a 6-week-old baby with alpha 55° or more is a type IIa (+).

- Type IIa (-): Should the hip not reach this minimum linear degree of maturation, it is called a type IIa (-) and by today's standard it should be treated. For example, a 6-week-old baby should have a minimum alpha value of 55° if it is to become type I by 12 weeks. If alpha is 55° or more the joint is a type IIa (+). If alpha is less than 55°, e.g. only 50°, it is lagging behind the minimum expected maturation and is a type IIa (-).
- Type IIb: The alpha value is between 50° and 59° but the baby is older than 3 months of age. This joint is dysplastic.
- Type IIc: The alpha value is between 43° and 49°. This hip socket is severely dysplastic and is close to decentring. Type IIc joints are, however, still centred (Sect. 9.2) and they can be seen at any age.

NB. Due to the inherent imprecision of the measurement, a differentiation between type IIa (+) and type IIa (-) should not be made before the 6th week.

NB. The difference between type IIa and type IIb is only the age. A bony head coverage which is acceptable for a 4-week-old infant is dysplastic in a 4-month-old infant because of the slowing down in the ossification rate. NB. The highlight of the present standard of hip sonography is not to detect dislocations (type III, type IV) but to detect predislocations and to treat hip joints before they dislocate. Don't forget that the term "DDH" means "developmental" ...

# 8.1.2 The Sonographic Alpha Value and the Radiological AC Angle

The alpha value in the ultrasound and the AC angle in the x-ray have an approximate relationship to one another.

Rule of thumb: Alpha +  $AC = 90^{\circ}$ .

#### 8.2 The Beta Value

Because of large individual variation of the cartilage portion of the acetabular roof and the definition of the cartilage roof line, the beta value shows more statistical variation than the alpha angle.

*Note:* Alpha determines the hip type, beta gives more individual differentiation. This can be demonstrated by the difference between the type IIa and type IIb. (Beta is only used for classification in one circumstance; see Sect. 8.2.2.)

# 8.2.1 Type Ia and Type Ib Hips

In normal hip joints with an alpha value of 60° or more (type I joints), the cartilaginous acetabular roof can be at different stages of development even if the bony coverage is identical. On the one hand it can extend a long way out over the femoral head with a consequently small beta value and on the other hand it can be rather short so



**G** Fig. 8.2. Type Ia and type Ib hips differ in the size and form of their cartilaginous roof. Type Ia hips show a wide cartilaginous roof covering the femoral head. Type Ib hips have a narrow cartilaginous roof. The combined, bone plus cartilage, roof shape is different in these types

that the beta value is larger. Type I joints with beta values less than 55° are hip joints where their cartilage roof was proportionately a long way over the femoral head and they are classified as type Ia joints. Hips joints where the beta value is more than 55° are classified as type Ib joints.

The hip type is determined by the alpha value. Within the hip type the beta value can show different variations in the cartilage roof and characterize the appearance of the hip joint.

NB. By today's standard, type Ia and type Ib joints are, with their identical bony coverage, characterized as normal joints. It is therefore not justified to assume that a type Ib joint is any worse than a type Ia joint. The relevance or otherwise of this subdivision will only be determined by very longterm follow-up studies.

Hypothesis:

 Extreme type Ia (with an extremely wide cartilaginous roof) leads to very wide bony coverage and may cause early impingement in adult hip joints. • Extreme type Ib (with an extremely short cartilaginous roof) leads to rather short head coverage in adults with consequent labral lesions and bony rim overloading.

Statistically, the average beta value in a type I joint seems to be  $65^{\circ}$ .

#### 8.2.2 Type D Hip

In untreated type IIc joints where the bony coverage is so poor, decentring can occur. The cartilaginous acetabular roof bends cranially (beta angle increases), whereas the alpha value (bony coverage) stays the same. If the beta angle is more than 77° in a hip joint with an alpha in IIc range, the hip joint is described as "about to decentre" or type D (Fig. 8.3).

As described in Sect. 8.2.1, the alpha value generally states the type. The only exception applies to type IIc. In this case the beta value establishes whether it is a type IIc (beta less than 77°) or type D (beta greater than 77°).

The type D hip is therefore the first stage of decentring (dislocation). It should never be called a type IId because all type II joints are centred.



**G** Fig. 8.3. Example demonstrating the difference between type IIc and type D hips: in hip joints with an alpha value in the type II range, the beta value deter-

#### Type IIc:

Alpha value between 43° and 49° (type IIc range); Beta value less than 77°.

# Type D:

Alpha value between 43° and 49° (type IIc range); Beta value greater than 77°.

### 8.3 Classification in Premature Infants

Premature infants are classified according to their calendar age. The clinical significance is, however, related to the gestational age.

For example, with a 4-month-old infant born 6 weeks early the alpha value is 57°. The classification is made and according to the calendar age is a type IIb. (Treatment consequence: monitoring or even treatment.) However, after taking into account that the infant was born 6 weeks early it falls within the 3-month limit and therefore may mines whether the hip is classified as type IIc or type D. Separation angle =  $77^{\circ}$ 

be allowed a certain deficiency in maturation. Therefore, in view of the prematurity, although it is noted as a type IIb hip with deficient ossification, it will only be monitored with no treatment at that stage.

# 8.4 Certainty of the Diagnosis

The diagnosis is secured not only by the alpha value but also by the type, which is crucial. The type is determined as a result of using several parameters:

- **1.** Description of:
  - · The bony roof
  - The osseous rim
  - The cartilaginous roof
- 2. Measuring the alpha and beta angles
- 3. The age of the infant





The more parameters used to make the diagnosis the more reliable it becomes. To use the alpha value only for diagnosis means degrading the ultrasound (alpha value) to the inaccuracy of an x-ray (AC index).

# **Key Points:**

- Using the sonometer, joint sockets are quantified depending on the age and the degree of ossification.
- Alpha states the type. Beta makes the precise differentiation within the type. Exception: in type IIc where the beta value establishes whether it is a type IIc or a type D joint.
- Premature infants are classified to type according to the calendar age. However, decisions about management are made according to the gestational age.

# 9 Instability



# Contents

9.1	Elasticity "Elastic Whipping"	
	(Fig. 9.1.b-d)	59
9.2	Pathological Instability	60
9.2.1	Note This Statement	60
9.2.2	Definition of Pathological Instability	60
9.3	Summary of the Principal Differences	
	Between Elasticity and (Pathological)	
	Instability	60

Problems and questions:

- How much movement is the femoral head allowed within the joint when the femur is put under pressure?
- When does the degree of movement exceed the line of tolerance and become harmful to the hip joint?
- How can "instability" which is insignificant and usually disappears without any adverse

affect on the hip joint, as for instance with a loose joint capsule, be differentiated from those types which are absolutely pathological and need to be treated immediately?

In principle it is necessary to differentiate between normal physiological movement (elasticity) and true pathological instability (Fig. 9.1.b).





□ Fig. 9.1. a Clinical example of the stress test. The left hand pushes or pulls the leg, while the right hand guides the transducer. b Example of elastic whipping. Even when the hip has good bony coverage, the joint capsule can be deformed under pressure from the femoral head with resultant deformation of the cartilagi-

nous roof. **c** Hip without stress applied. Note the position of the labrum in comparison to **d**. **d** The same hip joint as in **c** with stress applied. The bony coverage is identical, the labrum is pressed upwards, consequently increasing the beta value

# 9.1 Elasticity "Elastic Whipping" (Fig. 9.1.b-d)

As the infant hip joint is more an oval joint than a round one, physiological incongruities occur in the joint during movement. This is especially so during rotation but also during abduction and adduction. Adaption therefore takes place in the hyaline cartilage acetabular roof and in the acetabular labrum. This slight up- and downward movement of the labrum (springing) and even of the cartilage roof, which can be seen even in fully matured hips, must not be mistaken for pathological instability. This is the so-called elastic phenomenon which is the result of mechanisms for functional adaptation. This elastic movement can be intensified by a loose joint capsule.







**G G Fig. 9.2.** a Real instability: in the presence of a highly deficient bony roof (type IIc or worse), the femoral head can displace spontaneously. The difference between elastic whipping and pathological instability lies in the morphology of the acetabular roof. **b** Alpha 45°, beta 75°, type IIc. **c** Alpha 45°, beta 93°, type D by measurement, since it is the same hip joint as in **b**, type IIc has become type D; the final classification of this hip joint is type IIc unstable

#### 9.2 Pathological Instability

# 9.2.1 Note This Statement

"Type IIc joints are usually sonographically unstable."

#### Explanation:

"Usually" in the sense that in type IIc joints (as described in Sect. 8.2.2) can be made into decentred joints (type D) under pressure.

"Sonographically unstable" means that this decentring phenomenon can be observed on the monitor. It does not have to be clinically confirmed (is the clinical examination safe?).

The transition from stable to unstable is important for treatment decisions. It barely needs to be stated that all decentred joints are by nature unstable.

# 9.2.2 Definition of Pathological Instability

If a type IIc joint can be made, with pressure, into a type D joint, it is called type IIc unstable. If the type does not alter when pressure is applied (stress) then it is a type IIc stable.

Hip joints are classified in their resting position, without stress: this means that, for example, a type III hip joint which, under pressure, becomes a type IV joint, is classified as a type III joint.

# 9.3 Summary of the Principal Differences Between Elasticity and (Pathological) Instability

The gliding movement of the femoral head, which pushes aside the joint capsule, the acetabular labrum, or the hyaline cartilage acetabular roof, with pressure applied to the femur, is acceptable as long as the bony acetabular roof is adequate or good. This acceptable movement is called elasticity or elastic whipping. This can occur with the bony roof covering in the following sonographic types: type I, type IIa and type IIb (alpha more than 50°).

If, however, the bony coverage is highly deficient and drops to the critical level of a type IIc joint or even worse, the distortions of the cartilaginous acetabular roof and the labrum can be damaging to the hip joint. Shearing forces have an increasingly deleterious effect on the cartilaginous roof and the developmental zone (epiphyseal plate); the movement become increasing damaging and decentring occurs. This is real instability which is pathological (alpha less than 50°).

# 10 The Terminology of Dislocation

Dislocation is the "permanent separation" of articular surfaces. The term subluxation "a little bit dislocated" is a clinico-radiological term and does not relate to anatomy. It should not therefore be used in sonographic classification. Sonographically, a distinction is made between centred and decentred joints.

Centred joints are type I and type II joints.

Decentred joints are type D, type IIIa and b and type IV.

The treatment and the prognosis of these hip types is different. The terms dislocation or subluxation should not be used. They are not specific enough. They signal a "bad" hip, but the exact pathology and therefore its consequences cannot be determined ("bad weather" gives no indication as to what type of weather to expect!)

# **Key Points:**

- The alpha value determines the hip type, the beta value is responsible for the precise differentiation within the type. **NB.** The exceptions: type IIc, type D.
- Type D hip is the first stage of decentring.
- A subdivision of type IIc into type IIc stable and IIc unstable.
- The classification of premature infants is made according to the calendar age, the management is according to the gestational age.
- The distinction between elasticity and instability.
- The term "subluxation" is not precise and does not describe the anatomy. Therefore it should not be used.

# 11 Scanning Technique



# Contents

11.1	Preparation	64
11.2	Leading and Guiding the Mother	64
11.3	Scanning Procedure	65
11.3.1	Right Hip Joint	65
11.3.2	Obtaining the Picture	66
11.3.3	Obtaining the Sonogram of the Left Hip Joint	69
11.4	Errors	69

The lower limb of the os ilium, the correct scan section and the acetabular labrum must be displayed simultaneously. Each of these three structures is very small and they are found within an area of a few millimetres. The difficulty arises when one or two of the necessary structures are displayed, the third one is often missing. As one attempts to find the third missing landmark one of the previously shown structures disappears and so on.

With an incorrect examination technique the baby quickly becomes restless which makes it even more difficult to get the three landmarks simultaneously. This problem can only be solved by a meticulous scanning technique in which the time factor plays an essential part.

### Motto: Speed and precision are everything!

For the most part, careful organization and the scanning technique are not taken seriously enough. The technique described here is easy to teach and learn and guarantees a good-quality sonogram independent of the cooperation of the mother and child or the skill of the examiner.

NB. Hip sonography does not need experienced or skilful examiners but a standardized, reproducible technique which can be performed by everybody.

# 11.1 Preparation

- In order to save time the preparation is of great importance, independent of the scanning method.
- The examination must be completed before the baby becomes restless and starts to cry. A standardized examination calls for standardized positioning and, in due course, for a probe-guiding system as well.

- Outside the examination room there should be a changing table so that the mother can undress, and if necessary, clean the child calmly.
- Inside the examination room a second changing table or something similar should be placed. This is so that the blanket which the child may be wrapped in and the nappy (diaper) can be removed. This table can also be used if there is to be a clinical examination following the ultrasound examination. The other things the mother brings, including the baby's basket, clothes, bottle, and notes can be placed on it as well.
- The cradle which allows a standardized position and also a standardized scanning technique is placed on a table. The examination should be conducted standing rather than sitting. The table height should be such that both arms can rest comfortably on the edges of the cradle.
- The baby's head is near the examiner's right hand and the mother is opposite on the far side of the examining table.
- The ultrasound apparatus is on the right of the examiner.

## 11.2 Leading and Guiding the Mother

The mother, or the accompanying person, is often nervous. Clear instructions help to minimize organizational chaos and transmit an air of calm and trustworthiness.

The appropriate data for patient identification are entered on the computer before the mother and child enter the examination room.

The examiner stands at the examination table and greets the mother without shaking her hand. (The mother usually has both hands full and may have to put the child in an awkward position in order to shake hands.)

The examiner points out the changing table and tells the mother, "Please put your baby on the changing table and remove its nappy (diaper)" or "Please put down your bag".

Next, the examiner points to the far side of the examination table and instructs the mother, "Come over here please and give your baby to me".

The examiner takes the baby and places it in the cradle with its right side up so that the right hip joint can be examined first. The mother should not place the baby in the cradle herself because, if this happens, the position is usually incorrect and moving the baby into place causes unnecessary irritation. The examination should start with the right hip because in this way the baby can see the monitor which usually attracts its attention.

Instruction to the mother: "Please put your hand on the baby's shoulder"

*Note:* It is important that this instruction is given to the mother so that the mother does not hand the baby over entirely to the examiner. Mothers tend to step aside feeling insecure once the examiner has taken the child. It is important that the mother holds the shoulder rather than the hands because this would restrain the infant, leading to struggling especially in older infants. The baby is in the "spontaneous position", this means that the legs are gently bent. Neither the mother nor the examiner should pull the legs straight under any circumstances. This would also lead to struggling (Fig. 11.1a, b).

#### 11.3 Scanning Procedure

#### 11.3.1 Right Hip Joint

**Step One:** The left hand gently grasps the right leg of the infant and rotates it gently inwards so that the knee lies within the side of the cradle and does not protrude out over the bolster (Fig. 11.1.a).

At the same time the fingers are placed on the greater trochanter and spread slightly so that the

greater trochanter lies between the thumb and middle finger as shown in Fig. 11.1.b.

**Step Two:** The right hand reaches for the gel, applies it directly to the skin, puts the gel back in its storage place, takes the transducer and places it on the hip joint.

**Step Three:** Transducer positioning: placed on the hip joint parallel to the bolsters of the cradle and held vertically (not parallel to the spine! not tilted!) (Fig. 11.1.c).

*Position of the fingers:* thumb in front of and straight, middle and forefinger behind the transducer. The middle finger is not only in contact with the transducer but also with the baby's skin. The fingers should not be flexed, otherwise the fingernails could scratch the baby and cause it to struggle.

**Step Four:** Both the examiner's wrists are gently supported by the bolster of the cradle (make sure that the lower part of the right arm is also placed on the bolster).

Check the correct position of the baby and fingers before looking up at the monitor!

Before anything else, the position of the fingers, transducer and hands must be visually checked.

*Fingers:* The thumb to the front; middle and forefinger behind the transducer gently grasping it.

*Fingers straight:* Middle finger in contact with the transducer and the baby.

*Transducer:* Vertical and parallel to the bolsters of the cradle.

*Hand:* Both wrist joints, especially the right, gently propped on the side of the cradle.

#### 11.3.2 Obtaining the Picture

**Step One:** The transducer is moved backwards and forwards from the basic position in order to






**G G Fig. 11.1.** a Correct position of the infant in the cradle. The infant spontaneously assumes a natural position with legs slightly flexed and internally rotated. **b** Placement of the examiner's left hand during right hip ultrasonography. The trochanter is held between the thumb anteriorly and the index and middle fingers posteriorly. **c** Correct position of the probe guide system (Sonoguide), held parallel to the cradle bolsters with tilt prevented by the Sonoguide

find the round structure of the hip joint. The examiner faces the monitor.

*Movement:* forwards backwards, forwards backwards (Fig. 11.2a).

Step Two: As soon as the hip joint is seen as a whole, concentration must be on the lower limb of the os ilium. As it is very small, the parallel movement of the transducer must be small as well. As soon as the lower limb of the os ilium is seen, the ultrasound picture must be frozen immediately.

*Movement:* smaller – smaller – smaller – stop!

The main movement to find the lower limb of the os ilium: forward – backwards – forward – backwards (where is the joint?)

Smaller – smaller – smaller – stop (where is the lower limb?)



**Fig. 11.2.** a Start the examination with forwards–backwards ... to look first for the hip joint and finally for the lower limb of the os ilium. b Correction of the sectional plane by rotating the probe after finding the lower limb. c Rotating the probe, about the axis of the lower limb

Step Three: By looking at the frozen picture the examiner has the chance to decide on the section of the acetabular roof and to think about whether the transducer has to be adjusted and in which direction. If required, correction of the sectional plane is now carried out. The examiner must look at the transducer and, without tilting it, turn it in the direction of the expected sec-

tional plane. Whilst doing this the transducer must not be tilted.

Keyword: Rotation of the probe (Fig. 11.2b, c).

**Step Four:** The examiner looks once again at the monitor and searches for the lower limb as in steps one and two through parallel movement of the transducer.





**G Fig. 11.3a–c.** Turning the baby from the right to the left side. **a** Pulling on the leg and the left arm; **b** rotation; **c** final position



Step Five: As soon as the lower limb is seen, freeze once more and the sectional plane is now checked again. If it is correct, the examination is usually complete because the acetabular labrum is automatically displayed. If the sectional plane is not correct, a further readjustment (probe rotation) must be carried out and the lower limb found once more through parallel movement of the transducer.

Note for the scanning technique:

Forwards – backwards – forwards – backwards, smaller – smaller – smaller – stop, rotate the probe, forwards – backwards – forwards – backwards, smaller – smaller – smaller – stop.

**NB.** Whilst correcting the sectional plane it is important to look at the transducer in order to avoid tilting it unintentionally.

### 11.3.3 Obtaining the Sonogram of the Left Hip Joint

After obtaining the sonogram of the right hip joint, the examiner turns the child over (Fig. 11.3a–c): the examiner's left hand grasps the baby's ankles, the examiner's right hand gently pulls the left arm towards him. This way the child can be turned over within the cradle without having to lift it out. The mother then places her hand on the infant's shoulder once more (Fig. 11.4.a).

**Step One:** The examiner's left hand is placed flat on the left hip joint so that the trochanter can be felt between the thumb and forefinger. The lower part of the left arm rests gently on the infant's leg in order to stop it coming out of the cradle; this gently rotates the leg inwards (Fig. 11.4a, b).

**Step Two:** The transducer is held again, but this time between the thumb and forefinger. Again, it

is positioned vertical and parallel to the bolsters of the cradle (Fig. 11.4d).

**Step Three:** Forwards – backwards – forwards – backwards and so on (Fig. 11.4.d) (to show the lower limb of the os ilium); rotate the probe (Fig. 11.4.e); forwards – backwards – forwards etc.

### 11.4 Errors

(Fig. 11.5a-d, right side; Fig. 11.6a-d, left side)

No changing table present, examination performed while sitting down. Result: child becomes restless while being undressed and there is a loss of time whilst the mother and examiner both sit, and the examiner is sitting in a rather twisted position (Fig. 11.7a, b).

The examiner approaches the wrong side of the examination table (the right and left hand take over different functions – the more dextrous hand must hold the transducer!).

The mother has not been given the opportunity to undress and clean the child outside the examination room. (If the child is undressed in the examination room it tends to become restless.)

The baby's legs are straightened or its hands are held (the child starts to struggle).

The transducer is aligned with the spine, the fingers are flexed instead of straight (oblique ultrasound beam produces a poor reflection: the flexed fingers hurt the baby and cause struggling).

Attempting to show the lower limb of the os ilium by tilting and turning whilst looking at the monitor (while doing this the lower limb of the os ilium usually disappears).

The hand positions for the right and left hip are confused with one another (coordinated scanning movement is therefore impossible).

Feeding the child during the examination. If the child needs to be fed, it should be done prior to the examination.



**D** Fig. 11.4. a Correct position of the fingers of the left hand. The greater trochanter is fixed between the thumb and the first finger. b Correct position of the probe, parallel to the cradle bolsters and not tilted. c The hand of the mother is on the baby's shoulder. In the background, the monitor with the correct projection of the sonogram. d Looking for the hip joint and the lower limb by forwards – backwards – forwards – backwards – smaller – smaller – stop. e Rotation in the correct sectional plane











**Fig. 11.5.** a Incorrect position, the position of the left hand is not correct, the probe is tilted. **b** Incorrect position, the left hand pulls on the leg of the baby, the probe is tilted. **c** Incorrect position, the right leg is outside the cradle with external rotation of the hip joint, the probe is tilted. **d** Incorrect position of the baby, the leg of the baby is not fixed, the baby can struggle and the probe is tilted

Fig. 11.6. a Incorrect position, compare the correct position in Fig. 11.4b. b Because of the incorrect position in a, the baby moves its leg. c Incorrect position and handling, don't pull on the leg and tilt the probe!
 d Incorrect position, the left leg is not fixed, the probe is tilted





**Fig. 11.7.** a Incorrect position of the examiner and the mother. **b** If the baby starts crying, the mother stands up and blocks the view of the monitor

### **Key Points:**

- Efficient preparation, changing table, examination table with cradle, examiner stands to conduct the examination.
- Clear instructions and guidance for the mother.
- Standard positioning.
- Standard scanning technique.
- Avoid errors such as tilting the transducer (uncoordinated random searching), use the probe guide system!
- The clinical examination should follow after the ultrasound examination.

# 12 Errors Due to Tilting the Probe



### Contents

12.1	Antero-posterior Tilting	76
12.2	Postero-anterior Tilting	76
12.3	Cranio-caudal Tilting	76
12.4	Caudo-cranial Tilting	76
12.5	Cradle and Probe-Guiding Equipment (Figs. 11.1c, 11.4b)	

Because of the different speeds of the ultrasound beam in the tissues, there is diffraction and refraction of the ultrasound waves which depends on their angle. These can distort the image. Research has shown that an oblique ultrasound beam, as produced by sector scanners and also where the transducer is tilted (linear transducer), can lead to serious errors in diagnosis. It is therefore essential to make sure that the transducer is straight when it is placed on the baby.

### 12.1 Antero-posterior Tilting

In these circumstances a sonogram similar to that of the standard section is produced. However, correct identification of the osseous rim in order to delineate the base line is barely possible because of the poor definition of the perichondrium and of the ilium. At the same time the lower limb of the os ilium cannot be clearly depicted but a "fading echo" leads to false delineation of the acetabular roof line.

### 12.2 Postero-anterior Tilting

Here the sectional plane appears to be posterior. To the surprise of the examiner, this posterior plane does not disappear even when the transducer is turned anteriorly. Because the curvature of the os ilium does not change, the examiner uses one of these images for the final assessment because it is not possible to get a better scan section. The examiner assumes falsely that this is a normal variant with a raven-like extension of the osseous rim.

### 12.3 Cranio-caudal Tilting

In this case the lower limb of the os ilium is usually not clearly seen. Poorly defined fading echoes of the lower limb result.

### 12.4 Caudo-cranial Tilting

This is probably the most serious of all the mistakes that can lead to important misdiagnosis. In caudo-cranial tilting, the errors add up.

By tilting the transducer the mid part of the acetabular roof looks as though it is the posterior section. The examiner now turns the transducer more anteriorly, because he assumes that he is too far posterior, until an apparent mid sectional plane appears on the monitor. In fact the ultrasound plane is now in the anterior section of the acetabular roof. With this tilting error the bony socket worsens.

Because of the great difference in the ultrasound speed in hyaline cartilage, soft tissue and bone, the diffraction and refraction phenomenon is intensified because of the tilted ultrasonic waves. This causes distortion of the image.

Because of the summation of the errors due to diffraction and refraction of the tilted ultrasound beam and the incorrect identification of the section of the acetabular roof, a normal hip joint can be made to look decentred.

The tilting effect can be identified by characteristic alterations in the landmarks. By strictly observing the criteria of the so-called usability test, useless sonograms can be discarded. If one considers the most serious of errors, the caudo-cranial tilting, inexperienced examiners can sometimes find it difficult to detect this distortional error. In this case the epiphyseal plate of the femoral neck can help. If the ultrasound waves come caudo-cranially, the osteochondral junction (epiphyseal plate) of the femoral neck is no longer seen, at least not in its typical shape. This chondro-osseous junction is not relevant for



□ Fig. 12.1. a The probe is incorrectly positioned, producing a misleading image. In this case the probe is tilted posteriorly, causing deflection of the ultrasound beam in the sagittal plane. b Image of an immature hip, generated with the probe tilted posteriorly as shown in

the classification of the type; however, it is of significance firstly for orientation in the image and secondly for detecting the classical caudo-cranial tilting mistake. If the scanning technique which we teach is adhered to, tilting errors are ruled out as far as possible.



### 12.5 Cradle and Probe-Guiding Equipment (Figs. 11.1c, 11.4b)

To facilitate a quick, easy scan, standardized positioning and a standardized scanning technique are needed. In combination with the cradle, a probe-guiding device, approved and designed by Prof. Graf, is recommended. It is suitable for all





**G G Fig. 12.2. a** The probe in this example is tilted anteriorly and the direction of the ultrasound beam is postero-anterior. **b** The image is produced while tilting the probe anteriorly, as shown in **a**. The image plane misleadingly appears to be posterior only because of the tilted probe. Compare with a correctly executed image in Fig. 12.1c



**D** Fig. 12.3. a The probe is tilted, with cranio-caudal direction of the ultrasound beam. b Image generated with tilting of the probe as described in a. The lower limb of os ilium is not visible. Compare with a correctly executed image, as seen in Fig. 12.1c





■ **D** Fig. 12.4. a The probe in this example is tilted cranially, with deflection of the ultrasound beam in the frontal plane. b Sonographic image performed as described in a. The sign of caudo-cranial tilt is disappearance of the osteochondral junction of the proximal femur (1) from the sonographic image. The image can be misleadingly read as pseudo-subluxation



conventional transducers and only allows such scanning movements as are necessary for the hip joint. Movements which lead to tilting of the transducer's longitudinal or transverse axis are automatically blocked. Using the cradle in combination with the probe-guiding device does not only make scanning infant hips much easier for inexperienced practitioners but also reduces the examination time to a few minutes and improves the standard of the sonograms.

• Address for purchasing the cradle and probeguiding device:

Sonofix Sonoguide, Barbara Leban, Panoramaweg 12, 8061 Rinnegg/St. Radegund, Tel./Fax: +43-3132-4685, e-mail: johannleban@tele2.at

### **Key Points:**

- Tilting the incident sonic wave causes distortion of the image.
- Do not use sector scanners.
- Linear transducers must not be tilted.
- A normal hip joint can be made to appear abnormal by tilting. However, an abnormal hip joint cannot be made to look normal.
- Use a cradle and a probe guide.
- Do not accept sonograms without the chondro-osseous border!

## 13 Documentation and Quality

### Contents

13.1	Image Documentation	82
13.1.1	Minimum Requirement	82
13.1.2	Suggestions	82
13.2	Written Report	82
13.3	Tips for Checking and Ensuring theQuality of One's Own Sonograms	82

The basis for diagnosis is a printed sonogram which must fulfil certain quality requirements. For legal reasons, it is not enough to simply give descriptive findings without hard-copy documentation. The examination must therefore be substantiated by a sonogram to which the written report is added.

### 13.1 Image Documentation

### 13.1.1 Minimum Requirement

The scale should be at least 1:1.7, better still 1:2.

The three landmarks are clearly seen (lower limb, section, labrum), chondro-osseous border?

Two images, in the standard section, of each hip joint.

### 13.1.2 Suggestions

- The measurement lines should be drawn on one of the sonograms.
- Image projection as in an antero-posterior xray of the right hip (anatomical projection).
- In unstable hip joints: at rest position and stress position.
- Chondro-osseous junction visible.

### 13.2 Written Report

Apart from the usual personal data and date of the examination, the report should contain the following points:

- Age
- Description
- Type
- Alpha and beta values
- Management (e.g. follow-up only or suggestions for treatment)

### 13.3 Tips for Checking and Ensuring the Quality of One's Own Sonograms

The following criteria need to be checked in order to assess one's own sonograms, and those of others, for "usability" and quality:

- Is the minimum projection scale met?
- Are all points of my anatomical identification clearly visible?
- Are the three landmarks clearly visible and identifiable? (If any of the three reference points is missing the sonogram must not be measured.)
- Have tilting errors been made?
- Are the measurement lines drawn properly? (Measurement lines are only allowed on sonograms in the standard section.)
- Are the patient's name or code, age, right/left joint and date of examination recorded?

### 14 Principles of Ultrasound-Based Management



### Contents

Principles of Treatment8414.2Goals of Treatment8414.3Stages of Treatment8414.3.1The Preparation Stage8514.3.2The Reduction (Fig. 14.1)8514.3.3Retention8514.3.4The Maturation Phase (= Ossification Phase)8714.3.5Maturation Curve8814.4Why Errors Occur9314.4.1The Problem of the Doctor9314.4.2The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)93	14.1	Basic Biomechanical Aspects Behind the	
14.2Goals of Treatment8414.3Stages of Treatment8414.3.1The Preparation Stage8514.3.2The Reduction (Fig. 14.1)8514.3.3Retention8514.3.4The Maturation Phase (= Ossification Phase)8714.3.5Maturation Curve8814.4Why Errors Occur9314.4.1The Problem of the Doctor9314.4.2The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)93		Principles of Treatment	84
14.3Stages of Treatment8414.3.1The Preparation Stage8514.3.2The Reduction (Fig. 14.1)8514.3.3Retention8514.3.4The Maturation Phase (= Ossification Phase)8714.3.5Maturation Curve8814.4Why Errors Occur9314.4.1The Problem of the Doctor9314.4.2The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)93	14.2	Goals of Treatment	84
14.3.1       The Preparation Stage       85         14.3.2       The Reduction (Fig. 14.1)       85         14.3.3       Retention       85         14.3.4       The Maturation Phase (= Ossification Phase)       87         14.3.5       Maturation Curve       88         14.4       Why Errors Occur       93         14.4.1       The Problem of the Doctor       93         14.4.2       The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)       93	14.3	Stages of Treatment	84
14.3.2       The Reduction (Fig. 14.1)       85         14.3.3       Retention       85         14.3.4       The Maturation Phase (= Ossification Phase)       87         14.3.5       Maturation Curve       88         14.4       Why Errors Occur       93         14.4.1       The Problem of the Doctor       93         14.4.2       The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)       93	14.3.1	The Preparation Stage	85
14.3.3Retention8514.3.4The Maturation Phase (= Ossification Phase)8714.3.5Maturation Curve8814.4Why Errors Occur9314.4.1The Problem of the Doctor9314.4.2The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)93	14.3.2	The Reduction (Fig. 14.1)	85
14.3.4 The Maturation Phase (= Ossification Phase)8714.3.5 Maturation Curve8814.4 Why Errors Occur9314.4.1 The Problem of the Doctor9314.4.2 The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)93	14.3.3	Retention	85
Phase)8714.3.5Maturation Curve8814.4Why Errors Occur9314.4.1The Problem of the Doctor9314.4.2The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)93	14.3.4	The Maturation Phase (= Ossification	
14.3.5Maturation Curve8814.4Why Errors Occur9314.4.1The Problem of the Doctor9314.4.2The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)93		Phase)	87
<ul> <li>14.4 Why Errors Occur</li></ul>	14.3.5	Maturation Curve	88
14.4.1 The Problem of the Doctor9314.4.2 The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)93	14.4	Why Errors Occur	93
14.4.2 The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)	14.4.1	The Problem of the Doctor	93
Problem)	14.4.2	The Parental Problem (Compliance	
,		Problem)	93

### 14.1 Basic Biomechanical Aspects Behind the Principles of Treatment

The value of hip ultrasound is measured by the rate of, and success of, treatment. Inexact diagnoses, e.g. "dislocation" or "subluxation", or the general term "dysplastic hip" inadequately describe the patho-anatomical condition of the hip joint.

This can be illustrated by a simple example: "fever" is not a diagnosis. Nobody would treat a febrile child with broad-spectrum antibiotics without making a diagnosis. It can be done, but the success of treatment will be small and the damage probably large. The best possible treatment for a hip disorder (traction, splints, etc.) can only be selected with an accurate diagnosis. Just as an antibiotic will be chosen once the sensitivities are known, so the hip must be clearly seen (by sonography) and the diagnosis made (classification by type).

The basis for any treatment must therefore be an analysis of the patho-anatomical appearances of the hip joint. If the diagnosis is accurate then the success of a specified treatment can be determined. Advantage can be taken of the age-related growth potential, whilst the treatment can take into consideration the biomechanics. Treatment used to be based on clinical or radiological findings; however, ultrasound-based management is decided after determining the patho-anatomical situation of the bony and cartilage socket. If tried and tested principles of treatment are followed, correlated with the ultrasound findings, the treatment should be adequate.

Starting treatment without using an imaging method that can visualize the hip joint is obsolete. Even in the treatment of hip maturation disorders, "do no harm" should be the guiding principle. Over-treatment not only has the potential to harm the joint but is also a handicap for the child, a great emotional burden for the parents, and a financial burden for the general public. "Preventative treatment" is just as obsolete as treatment with antibiotics without a diagnosis. The optimum combination of diagnosis and treatment requires a great deal of organizational effort and calls for cooperation between paediatricians and orthopaedic surgeons.

Important formula:

Result = Diagnosis + Treatment

Hip ultrasound is only responsible for the diagnosis and has no influence on the final result if the treatment is inappropriate.

### 14.2 Goals of Treatment

- **1.** To reverse the patho-anatomical deformity of the joint back to the normal status for the age.
- **2.** To make full use of the ossification potential of the hip joint.
- **3.** We know today that the growth and ossification potential of the hip joint are age related. Therefore, accurate diagnosis and starting necessary treatment as soon after birth as possible is recommended.
- **4.** To avoid damage, especially to the growth zones in the hip socket as well as avoiding necrosis of the femoral head.

### 14.3 Stages of Treatment

The first step must always be the analysis of the patho-anatomical state of the hip joint.

Sonographic typing defines the patho-biomechanical state of the joint. As the femoral head "slides out", mechanical deformity of the socket results. Treatment must therefore be chosen which is able to reverse the forces in the hip joint in such a way that the deformity can revert to the normal status for the age. The worst-case (decentred) hip joint needs an initial stage of preparation and three stages of treatment.

#### 14.3.1 The Preparation Stage

The period of treatment can be considerably shortened by using early ultrasound diagnosis. Unfortunately, for whatever reason, there will be cases when treatment is started so late that the dislocated femoral head cannot be re-centred in the acetabulum either manually or with any other measure. These are usually older children who have clinical abnormality and already suffer from adductor contractions. In these cases, the hip joint must first be loosened. This can be achieved, depending on the severity, either through a special medically supervised exercise programme or, in severe cases, by traction or an adductor-tenotomy. A Pavlik harness applied in a correct position for this patho-biomechanical situation can also work (but is only recommended when the doctor knows how to apply it in this special biomechanical situation).

### 14.3.2 The Reduction (Fig. 14.1)

Decentred joints must be reduced. This is possible manually, through traction, or through a reduction device (e.g. Pavlik harness).

All decentred joints (type IV, IIIa, IIIb, D) need reduction. The dislocated femoral head is reduced back into the original acetabulum.



**Fig. 14.1.** The reduction phase. The decentred femoral head must be reduced

Complete reduction sometimes cannot be achieved because of the deformed, more or less pressed down cartilaginous roof. The required minimum is a position of the head in "front of the door" of the acetabulum, to give the head the possibility to bed down into the depth of the acetabulum by micromovements.

### 14.3.3 Retention

A femoral head which has been reduced into the original acetabulum will, however, dislocate back into the secondary moulding. This hip joint is unstable. Therefore, all hip joints which have been reduced and all unstable joints, such as type IIc unstable, must be subjected to the retention phase. Any retention device is suitable that fulfils the following basic principles:

- Flexion of at least 90°, better still 100°.
- Maximum abduction of 45° as measured from the central line. (These result in a squatting position.
- Relative immobilization of the joint for approximately 4 weeks.

A device that fulfils these requirements is suitable for retention. On average the retention phase takes 4 weeks. During this time the deformed cartilage has the opportunity to develop back to its original shape, and it becomes congruent with the femoral head. With relative immobilization the stretched and flapping joint capsule shrinks. Firm fixation is necessary in this phase to avoid redislocation. A plaster cast in a squatting position is suitable as a retention device. Any other device that can maintain such a position, e.g. a properly applied Pavlik harness, is also suitable.

In this retention phase the harness must be tightened and the baby fixed in the flexion-abduction squatting position! In this treatment stage (retention!) the baby is not allowed to move the hip joints and struggle!





□ Fig. 14.2. a The retention phase. The hip joint is unstable, the hyaline cartilage roof is deformed and the joint capsule is lax. The femoral head must be pressed downwards in order to avoid shearing stress to the deformed hyaline cartilage roof. b Retention phase. The baby is fixed in the flexion abduction position in a plaster cast. c X-ray of a cadaver. The hip joint is fully



reduced and should be retained in this position. d Xray of a cadaver. Incorrect reduction with only abduction and no flexion! Compare with c; *1* downwardly pressed part of the hyaline cartilage roof (so-called inverted limbus); *2*, upwardly pressed part of the hyaline cartilage roof. e Historical Lorenz cast in 90° abduction and no flexion is strictly forbidden!



□ Fig. 14.3. The maturation phase: The poorly formed bony roof (*black arrow*) must remodel by extending into the unossified cartilaginous roof. During this stage, the squatting position should be enforced in order to avoid excessive pressure on the cartilaginous roof

### 14.3.4 The Maturation Phase (= Ossification Phase)

All joints that have completed the retention phase and have turned into stable joints as well as types IIc stable, type IIa (-)and type IIb, require a maturation device until they are completely healed, i.e. when the hyaline cartilage is ossified according to the age or type I. The maturation device should, if possible, maintain the squatting position whilst allowing an increasing amount of movement in the hip joint. A typical maturation device is a harness or any device which allows mild struggling in a squatting position (Fig. 14.4a, b).

Extension is strictly forbidden and may cause redislocation by pressing the cartilaginous roof upwards.





□ Fig. 14.4. a. Harness, according to Mittelmeier–Graf, for the maturation phase mild abduction, using cross straps. b Harness, according to Mittelmeier–Graf, using parallel position of the straps to avoid over-abduction, flexion bolsters are used under the thighs. The squatting position is enforced



Fig. 14.5. Maturation curve

### 14.3.5 Maturation Curve

Developmental observations on healthy infants have shown that the bony socket grows in a specific way. Essentially the maturation curve shows that the potential for maturation and thus the increase in the alpha value is greatest during the first 6 weeks of life. The increase in the alpha value and thus the process of ossification is still good between the 6th and 12th week of life. However, after the end of the 3rd month the ossification potential begins to level out and continues to rise only slowly. Conclusion: This means that with early diagnosis there is the potential for maturation over a relatively long period of time. The later the diagnosis and the beginning of treatment, the smaller the potential for maturation and the shorter period of time available to achieve an optimal result.

Diagnosis and treatment should start by the beginning of the 6th week at the latest!

A summary of the treatment is shown in Table 14.1. A long-term result of treatment is demonstrated in Figs. 14.6–14.12 (23 years follow-up).

Phase	Туре	Procedures
1. Reduction	Decentred hips (D, III, IV)	Manually, by extension, Pavlik
2. Retention	Unstable hips (IIc unstable)	"Human position", plaster according to "fettweis"
3. Maturation	Stable "dysplastic" hips (IIc stable, IIb, IIa-)	Harness according M. Graf / Pavlik

#### **Table 14.1.** Therapeutic principles



**Fig. 14.6.** a Routine sonogram of a 4-week-old baby in 1983. The bony roof is poor, the osseous rim flat, the hyaline cartilage deformed and pressed downwards, type IV, on the right hip joint. **b** Left hip joint in the

same baby at the same time. The bony roof is poor, the osseous rim is flat, the hyaline cartilage roof partially pressed upwards, type IIIa hip joint. **c** X-ray according to **a** and **b** 



□ **Fig. 14.7. a** Right hip joint after reduction and retention for 4 weeks in a modified plaster cast. The hip joint is centred and stable compared with the same hip joint in Fig. 14.6a. **b** The same hip joint as in Fig. 14.6b after reduction and 4-week retention, centred stable hip joint. The quality of the sonogram in **a** and **b** are of the standard of 1983!

**Fig. 14.8a, b.** Sonograms after 6 weeks of treatment in a harness for maturation. The nucleus is appearing



**G** Fig. 14. 9. The hip joint is now 4 months of age. Compare the situation after the steps of reduction, retention and maturation, the right side was a type IV, the left side a type III joint



□ Fig. 14.10. The same hip joints as Fig. 14.9, at 1.5 years of age



□ Fig. 14.11. The same hip joints at 10 years: completely normal joints bilaterally



■ Fig. 14.12. The same hip joints at the age of 22 years

### 14.4 Why Errors Occur

There are two main problems:

### 14.4.1 The Problem of the Doctor

- Incorrect hip ultrasound and thus incorrect determination of the patho-anatomical find-ings.
- Loss of time. The best time for maturation is missed because the treatment is started late, i.e. after the 6th week of life, or the treatment is changed several times because the wrong treatment has initially been selected and thus the main period of maturation cannot be taken advantage of.
- Selection of the wrong device.
- There are specific devices for each phase of treatment. These are constructed so that their mechanics are suitable for reduction, retention or maturation of the hip joint. A maturation device requires a stable hip joint and usually cannot cause reduction and is inadequate for retention.
- A retention device, like a plaster cast, is especially designed for the mechanical needs of the retention phase. A stable joint such as type IIb would therefore be over-treated in a plaster cast. In the same way it would be wrong to treat a type III joint with a simple splint.

# 14.4.2 The Parental Problem (Compliance Problem)

Prescribed devices are not worn or the position is changed. The baby is not taken to the necessary check-ups.

The retention phase is especially dangerous. At this stage of treatment the femoral head must be held securely in the original acetabulum for a certain period of time. All devices that the parents can remove themselves are dangerous in this phase. Successful treatment can be endangered through parental non-compliance.

### **Key Points:**

- Hip ultrasound enables accurate analysis of the patho-anatomical situation in the hip joint. During treatment the hip joint goes through three essential patho-anatomical phases: repositioning, retention and maturation.
- In each of these phases a form of treatment must be selected which is bio-mechanically suitable for the specific phase.
- Because of the maturation curve, the best result is achieved if the diagnosis is made as early as possible so that the hip joint has lots of time available when there is good potential for maturation.
- Wrong diagnosis (no hip sonography performed), the wrong selection of treatment and poor parental compliance can cause irreversible damage to the hip joint.

# Motto: Better hip ultrasound today than a limp tomorrow!

### 15 Appendix







1





**G G Fig. 15.1.** a Twelve weeks, right hip. b *1*, Chondroosseous junction; *2*, femoral head; *3*, synovial fold; *4*, joint capsule; *5*, labrum; *6*, cartilage; *7*, bone; *8*, bony rim. **c** Usability check: *1*, lower limb; *2*, plane; *3*, labrum. **d** Bony roof (*red*): good; bony rim (*green*): blunt; cartilage roof (*yellow*): covers the femoral head. Type I. **e** Measurement: alpha: 64°, beta: 60°. Final type: Ib









**G G Fig. 15.2.** a Six months, left hip. **b** *1*, Chondro-osseous junction; *2*, femoral head; *3*, synovial fold; *4*, joint capsule; *5*, labrum; *6*, cartilage; *7*, bone; *8*, bony rim. **c** Usability check: *1*, lower limb; *2*, plane; *3*, labrum. **d** Description: The bony roof (*red*) is deficient, the bony rim (*green*) is round and the cartilage (*yellow*) is covering the femoral head – type II. According to the age, type IIb. **e** Measurement: alpha: 54°, beta: 78° – type II, according to the age type IIb



□ Fig. 15.3. a Six weeks, right hip. b Anatomical identification: *1*, Chondro-osseous junction; *2*, femoral head; *3*, synovial fold; *4*, joint capsule; *5*, labrum; *6*, cartilage; *7*, bone; *8*, bony rim. c Usability check: *1*, lower limb; *2*, plane; *3*, labrum. d Description: The bony rim (*red*) is

severely deficient, the bony roof (*green*) is rounded to flat, but the cartilage roof (*yellow*) is still covering the femoral head. Type II. Measurement: alpha: 48°, beta: 76°, final type: IIc









**G G Fig. 15.4.** a Four Weeks, left hip. **b** Anatomical identification: *1*, Chondro-osseous junction; *2*, femoral head; *3*, synovial fold; *4*, joint capsule; *5*, labrum; *6*, cartilage; *7*, bone; *8*, bony rim. **c** Usability check: *1*, lower limb; *2*, plane (it is posterior, but the hip is decentred so this sonogram is usable); *3*, labrum. **d** Description: The bony roof (*red*) is poor, the bony rim (*green*) is flat and the cartilage (*yellow*) is displaced **e** *1* Os ilium; *2*, gluteus minimus; *3*, gluteus medius; *4*, greater trochanter



□ Fig. 15.5. a Two weeks, right hip. b Anatomical identification: 1, Chondro-osseous junction; 2, femoral head; 3, synovial fold; 4, joint capsule; 5, labrum; 6, cartilage (pressed downwards); 7, bone; 8, bony rim.
 c Usability check: The lower limb (1) is missing, the

plane (2) is posterior (3), labrum is present. This sonogram is usable, because the hip decentred. d Description: The bony roof (*red*) is poor, the bony rim (*green*) is flat and the cartilage is pressed downwards. This is a type IV



**G** Fig. 15.6. a. Eleven weeks, right hip. b Measurement: alpha: 55°, beta: 69°, according to the age, type IIa(-)

**□ Fig. 15.7. a** Two weeks, right hip. This sonogram is not usable, because the lower limb is missing, but the hip is centred. **b** *1*, Zona annularis; *2*, zona centralis; *3*, the lower limb is missing



**Fig. 15.8.** a Four months, right hip. Please do not forget to check for tilting error. This sonogram is not usable. Tilting error (ventral – dorsal). b *1*, Blurred and oblique os ilium



■ **Fig. 15.9.** a Five weeks, right hip. Go step by step. Start with the anatomical identification. Do the usability check (lower limb, plane, labrum). Look for tilting error. Description: the bony covering is good, the bony rim is blunt and the cartilage covers the femoral head. Type I. **b** *1*, Contact point (border) between the proximal part of the perichondrium and the os ilium. Measurement: alpha: 60°, beta: 70°, final type: Ib



■ **Fig. 15.10.** a Two days, left hip. The plane is posterior, so you cannot use this sonogram. b *1*, Os ilium with concavity of the fossa glutealis (posterior plane); *2*, labrum; *3*, lower limb; *4*, ligamentum teres; *5*, os ischii; *6*, transverse ligament

□ **Fig. 15.11.** a Three months, left hip. This sonogram is not usable – tilting error! b *1*, Blurred perichondrium; 2, because of ventral–dorsal tilting of the transducer, the joint capsule becomes blurred


**Fig. 15.13.** a One week, left hip. The hip is decentred and the cartilage is pressed downwards – type IV. b *1*, Perichondrium; *2*, femoral head; *3*, cartilage (pressed downwards)



**G** Fig. 15.14. Five weeks, left hip. The bony roof is deficient, the bony rim is round to flat, but the cartilage is covering the femoral head. The hip is centred – type II. Type IIa(+/-) and type IIc can only be differentiated by exact angle measurement

## Suggested Reading

- Andersson J E (1995) Neonatal Hip Instability: Normal Values for Physiological Movement of the Femoral Head Determined by an Anterior-Dynamic Ultrasound Method. J Pediatr Orthop 15: 736–740
- Barlow T G (1962) Early diagnosis and treatment of congenital dislocation of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 44-B: 292–301
- Batory I (1982) Ätiologie der pathologischen Veränderungen des kindlichen Hüftgelenkes. Enke, Stuttgart
- Becker R, Bayer M, Wessinghage D, Waertel G (1994) Hüftsonographie: Luxus oder Notwendigkeit ? Deutsches Ärzteblatt 91: A-1892 - A-1898 (Heft 27)
- Bennet G C (1992) Screening for congenital dislocation of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 74-B: 643–644
- Benson et al (1993) Ultrasound and DDH: A Cost-Benefit Analysis of Three Delivery Systems (Abstract). J Pediatr Orthop 13: 120–121
- Berman L, Klenerman L (1986) Ultrasound screening for hip abnormalities: preliminary findings in 1001 neonates. Br Med J 293: 719–722
- Boeree N R, Clarke N M P (1994) Ultrasound imaging and secondary screening for congenital dislocation of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 76-B: 525–533
- Bombelli R, Tschauner Ch, Bombelli M (1994) CDH in the pre- and post-sonographic era. Hip International Vol 4 (no. 1): 10–34
- Bon R A, Exner G U (1992) Frühdiagnose der Hüftdysplasie – Argumente für ein generelles sonographisches Screening in der Schweiz. Schweiz Rundschau Med (PRAXIS) 81: 519–523
- Bond Ch D, Hennrikus W L, DellaMaggiore E D (1997) Prospective Evaluation of Newborn Soft-Tissue Hip "Clicks" with Ultrasound. J Pediatr Orthop 17 (1997): 199–201

- Casser H R (1992) Sonographiegesteuerte Behandlung der dysplastischen Säuglingshüfte. Enke, Stuttgart
- Castelein R M, Sauter A I M (1988) Ultrasound screening for congenital dysplasia of the hip in newborns; its value. J Pediatr Orthop 8: 666–670
- Castelein R M, Sauter A J M, deVlieger M, vanLinge B (1992) Natural history of ultrasound hip abnormalities in clinically normal newborns. J Pediatr Orthop 12: 423-427
- Catterall A (1994) The early diagnosis of congenital dislocation of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 76-B: 515–516
- Cheng J C Y, Chan Y L, Hui P W, Shen W Y, Metreweli C (1994) Ultrasonic Hip Morphometry in Infants. J Pediatr Orthop 14: 24–28
- Clarke N M P, Harcke H T, McHugh P, Lee M S, Borns P F, MacEwen G D (1985) Realtime ultrasound in the diagnosis of congenital hip dislocation and dysplasia of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 67: 406–412
- Clarke N M P, Clegg J, Al-Chalabi A N (1989) Ultrasound screening for hips at risk for CDH: failure to reduce the incidence of late cases. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 71-B: 9–12
- Coleman S S (1994) Developmental Dislocation of the Hip: Evolutionary Changes in Diagnosis and Treatment. J Pediatr Orthop 14: 1–2
- Deimel D, Breuer D, Alaiyan H, Mittelmeier H (1994) Verlaufsbeobachtung eines hüftsonographischen Screeningprogrammes zur Früherkennung angeborener Hüftreifungsstörungen an der orthopädischen Universitätsklinik Homburg/Saar im Zeitraum von 1985 bis 1990. Z Orthop 132: 255–259
- Dias J J, Thomas I H, Lamont A C, Mody B S, Thompson J R (1993) The Reliability of Ultrasonographic Assessment of Neonatal Hips. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 75-B: 479–82

- Diaz A, Cuervo M, Epeldegui T (1994) Simultaneous Ultrasound Studies of DDH Using the Graf, Harcke, and Suzuki Approaches. J Pediatr Orthopaed Part B, 3: 185–189
- 23. Donaldson J S (1994) The Use of Sonography in Screening for Developmental Dysplasia of the Hip. AJR 162: 399–400
- Dorn U, Hattwich M (1987) Sonographisches Hüftscreening bei Neugeborenen. Ultraschall Klin Prax (1987) 2: 159–164
- 25. Eggl H, Sterzinger W, Frischhut B (1992) Die Wahrscheinlichkeit einer Reifungsstörung bei Typ IIa Neugeborenenhüften. Ultraschall Klin Prax (1992) 7: 275–278
- Eggl H, Krismer M, Klestil T, Frischhut B (1993) Auswirkungen des Hüftsonographiescreenings. Eine epidemiologische Studie. Orthopäde (1993) 22: 277–279
- Eller K, Katthagen B D (1987) Sonographische Verlaufskontrollen der Hüftdysplasie unter Spreizhosentherapie. Z Orthop 125: 534–541
- Exner G U, Mieth D (1987) Sonographisches Hüftdysplasiescreening beim Neugeborenen. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 117: 1015–1020
- 29. Exner G U (1988) Ultrasound screening for hip dysplasia in neonates. J Pediatr Orthop 8: 656–660
- Exner G U, Frey E (1997) Hüftdysplasie im Säuglingsalter. Kernspintomographie und Computertomographie. Orthopäde (1997) 26: 59–66
- Falliner A, Hassenpflug J (1994) Der Einfluß der Sonographie auf Diagnose und Behandlung der sog. angeborenen Hüftgelenksluxation. Z Orthop 132 (1994): 505–512
- Fettweis E (1968) Sitz-Hock-Stellungsgips bei Hüftgelenksdysplasien. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 63: 38–51
- Ganger R und Mitarbeiter (1991) Ultraschall-Screening der Neugeborenenhüfte: Ergebnisse und Erfahrungen. Ultraschall Med 12: 25–30

- 34. Garvey M, Donoghue V B, Gorman W A, O'Brien N, Murphy J F A (1992) Radiographic Screening at Four Months of Infants at Risk for Congenital Hip Dislocation. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 74-B: 704-7
- 35. Gomes H, Ouedraogo T, Avisse C, Lallemand A, Bakhache P (1998) Neonatal hip: from anatomy to cost-effective sonography. Eur Radiol 8: 1030–1039
- Graf R (1980) The diagnosis of congenital hip joint dislocation by the ultrasonic compound treatment. Arch Orthop Traumat 97: 117–133
- Graf R (1981) The ultrasonic image of the acetabular rim in infants. An experimental and clinical investigation. Arch Orthop Traumat 99: 35–41
- Graf R (1981) Die operative Reposition der angeborenen Hüftluxation. Z Orthop 119: 491–497
- 39. Graf R (1982) Ultraschalldiagnostik bei Säuglingshüften. Z Orthop 120: 583–589
- 40. Graf R (1983) Die sonographische Beurteilung der Hüftdysplasie mit Hilfe der Erkerdiagnostik. Z Orthop 121: 653–659
- 41. Graf R (1983) New possibilities for the diagnosis of congenital hip joint dislocation by the ultrasonic compound treatment. J Pediatr Orthop 3: 354–359
- 42. Graf R (1985) Möglichkeiten, Probleme und derzeitiger Stand der Hüftsonographie bei Säuglingshüften. Radiologe 25: 127–132
- 43. Graf R (1986) Guide to sonography of the infant hip. Thieme, Stuttgart
- 44. Graf R (1986) Kann die Hüftsonographie die an sie gestellten Anforderungen erfüllen? Ultraschall Klin Prax 1: 62–68
- 45. Graf R, Tschauner Ch, Schuler P (1986) Ist die Hüftsonographie notwendig und unter welchen Voraussetzungen kann sie eingesetzt werden? Pädiat Prax 34: 129–139
- Graf R (1987) Die sonographische Diagnose von Hüftreifungsstörungen – Prinzipien, Fehlerquellen und Konsequenzen. Ultraschall 8: 2–8

- Graf R, Tschauner Ch, Steindl M (1987) Ist die IIa-Hüfte behandlungsbedürftig? Monatsschr Kinderheilkd 135: 832–837
- 48. Graf R, Schuler P (1988) Sonographie am Stütz- und Bewegungsapparat bei Kindern und Erwachsenen. Lehrbuch und Atlas. VCH edition medizin, Weinheim
- 49. Graf R (1989) Sonographie am Bewegungsapparat. Orthopäde 18: 2–11
- Graf R, Soldner R (1989) Zum Problem der Winkelmeßfehler bei der Hüftsonographie durch Linear- und Sektorscanner. Ultraschall Klin Prax 4: 177–182
- Graf R (1992) Hip Sonography How Reliable? Sector Scanning Versus Linear Scanning? Dynamic Versus Static Examination? Clinical Orthopaedics 281: 18–21 (August 1992)
- Graf R, Tschauner Ch (1993) Neonatal Sonographic "Screening" for DDH. BMUS-Bulletin May 1993: 22–27
- 53. Graf R, Tschauner Chr, Klapsch W (1993) Progress in Prevention of Late Developmental Dislocation of the Hip by Sonographic Newborn Hip "Screening": Results of a Comparative Follow-up Study. J Pediatr Orthop (Part B) 2: 115–121
- 54. Graf R (1993) Sonographie der Säuglingshüfte. Ein Kompendium. 4.Auflage. Enke, Stuttgart
- Graf R (1994) Effects of Hip Sonography in Austria and Guidelines for Therapy. in: Renato Bombelli Farewell Meeting Proceedings, p. 12–13. RMS-Fondation Bettlach
- Graf R, Tschauner Chr (1994) Sonographie der Säuglingshüfte – Fehlerquellen, Fortschritte und aktuelle klinische Relevanz. Radiologe 34: 30–38
- Graf R, Wilson B (1995) Sonography of the Infant Hip and its Therapeutic Implications. Chapman & Hall, Weinheim
- Graf R (1995) Probleme und Fehlerquellen bei der Hüftsonographie. Gynäkol Prax 20 (1996): 223–231

- Graf R (1995) Probleme und Fehlerquellen bei der Hüftsonographie. Pädiat Prax 49 (1995): 467–475
- Graf R, Lercher K (1996) Erfahrungen mit einem 3-D-Sonographiesystem am Säuglingshüftgelenk. Ultraschall in Med 17 (1996): 218–224
- Graf R, Tschauner Chr (1996) Ultrasound screening in the neonatal period. Baillière's Clinical Orthopaedics Vol.1, No. 1, August 1996: 117–133
- 62. Graf R (1997) Die sonographiegesteuerte Therapie. Orthopäde 26: 33–42
- 63. Graf R (1997) Die aktuelle Hüftsonographie-Screeningdiskussion: Entwicklungen in Deutschland, Österreich und international. Praktische Pädiatrie 3: 274–283
- 64. Graf R (1997) Advantages and disadvantages of various access routes in sonographic diagnosis of dysplasia and luxation in the infant hip. J Pediatr Orthop (Part B) 6: 248–252
- 65. Graf R (1997) Von der sonographischen Frühestdiagnostik zur sonographiegesteuerten Therapie. In: Tschauner Ch (Hrsg.): Die Hüfte. S. 57–78. Enke, Stuttgart
- Graf R, Lercher K (1996) Erfahrungen mit einem 3-D-Sonographiesystem am Säuglingshüftgelenk. Ultraschall in Med 17 (1996): 218–224
- Graf R, Tschauner Chr (1996) Ultrasound screening in the neonatal period. Baillière's Clinical Orthopaedics Vol.1, No. 1, August 1996: 117–133
- Graf R (1998) Klinische Untersuchung

   Hüftsonographie derzeitiger Stand und Ausblicke. In: Grifka J und Ludwig J (Hrsg.): Kindliche Hüftdysplasie. S. 43–81. Thieme, Stuttgart-NewYork
- Graf R (1998) Hüftsonographie. In: Konermann W, Gruber G, Tschauner C (Hrsg.): Die Hüftreifungsstörung. S. 103–138. Steinkopff, Darmstadt

- 70. Grill F, Müller D (1997) Ergebnisse des Hüftultraschallscreenings in Österreich. Orthopäde (1997) 26: 25–32
- 71. Hangen D H, Kasser J R, Emans J B, Millis M B (1995) The Pavlik Harness and Developmental Dysplasia of the Hip: Has Ultrasound Changed Treatment Patterns? J Pediatr Orthop 15: 729–735
- 72. Harcke H T, Clarke N M P, Lee M S, Borns P F, MacEwen G D (1984) Examination of the infant hip with real-time ultrasonography J Ultrasound Med 3: 131–137
- Hauck W, Seyfert U T (1990) Die Ultraschalluntersuchung der Neugeborenenhüfte: Ergebnisse und Konsequenzen. Z Orthop 128: 570–574
- 74. Hernandez R J, Cornell R G, Hensinger R N (1994) Ultrasound diagnosis of neonatal congenital dislocation of the hip. A decision analysis assessment. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 76-B: 539–543
- 75. Hinderaker Th, Daltveit A K, Irgens L M, Uden A, Reikeras O (1993) The impact of intra-uterine factors on neonatal hip instability. An analysis of 1 059 479 children in Norway. Acta Orthop Scand 65–3 (1994): 239–242
- 76. Holen K J, Terjesen T, Tegnander A, Bredland T, Saether O D, Eik-Nes St H (1994) Ultrasound Screening for Hip Dysplasia in Newborns. J Pediatr Orthop 14: 667–673
- Holler M (1980) Joint motion limitation in newborns. Clin Orthop 148: 94–96
- Joller R, Waespe B (1991) Generelles sonographisches Hüftscreening auch in der Schweiz? Ultraschall Klin Prax 6: 232 (Abstract 473)
- 79. Jomha N M; McIvor J, Sterling G (1994) The Role of Ultrasonography in the Diagnosis of Developmental Hip Dysplasia. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 76-B: Supp 1: 24
- Jones D A, Powell N (1990) Ultrasound and neonatal hip screening. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 72-B: 457–459

- Jüsten H P, Wessinghage D, Waertel G, Kißlinger E (1997) Sonographisches Hüftgelenk-Screening und daraus resultierende Behandlung von Hüftreifungsstörungen. Orthop Praxis 33: 71–75 (Heft 2/97)
- Katthagen B D, Mittelmeier H, Becker D (1986) Häufigkeit und stationärer Behandlungsbeginn veralteter Luxationshüften in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Orthop Praxis 22: 887–888
- Katthagen B D, Mittelmeier H, Becker D (1988) Häufigkeit und stationärer Behandlungsbeginn kindlicher Hüftgelenksluxationen in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Z Orthop 126: 475–483
- 84. Klapsch W, Tschauner Ch, Graf R (1990) Führt die Vorverlegung des Diagnosezeitpunktes der Hüftdysplasie zu merkbar besseren Behandlungsergebnissen? Orthop Praxis 26: 401–405
- Klapsch W, Tschauner Ch, Graf R (1991) Behandlungsergebnisse dezentrierter Hüftgelenke seit Einführung der Hüftsonographie. Orthop Praxis 27: 353–354
- Klapsch W, Tschauner Ch (1993) Kongenitale Hüftdysplasie – Entwicklung der stationären Behandlungskosten – Vergleich der Jahre 1977 bis 1979 zu 1986 bis 1988. Orthop Praxis 29: 248–251
- Klisic P (1987) Let's Adopt the Term: "Developmental Displacement of the Hip" (DDH). Proceedings No 86 of International Meeting on Care of Babies' Hips, Beograd, Oct. 1–3,1987
- Komprda J (1974) Diagnostika vrozené dysplazie kycle u novorozencu. Acta Chir Traumatol Cech 41: 448–455
- Konermann W, Gruber G, Tschauner C (Hrsg) (1998) Die Hüftreifungsstörung. Steinkopff, Darmstadt
- Krismer M, Klestil T, Morscher M, Eggl H (1993) The effect of ultrasonographic screening on the incidence of DDH. International Orthopaedics (SICOT) (1996) 20: 80–82

- Lennox I A C, McLauchlan J, Murali R (1993) Failures of Screening and Managment of Congenital Dislocation of the Hip. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 75-B: 72–5
- 92. Lorenz A (1920) Die sogenannte angeborene Hüftverrenkung. Enke, Stuttgart
- Marks D S, Clegg J, Al-Chalabi A N (1994) Routine Ultrasound Screening for Neonatal Hip Instability. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 76-B: 534–538
- 94. Matthiessen H D (1996) Forensische Probleme bei der Behandlung von Hüftdysplasien und -luxationen. Z Orthop (1996) 134: Oa 10–12
- Melzer Ch (1989) Nutzen und Gefahren der Sonographie des Säuglingshüftgelenkes. Pädiat Prax 38: 101–109
- 96. Melzer Ch (1997) Korrelation Sono und Röntgen. Orthopäde (1997) 26: 43–48
- Müller I, Engelbert S (1998) Geschichte der kongenitalen Hüftluxation. In: Grifka J und Ludwig J (Hrsg.): Kindliche Hüftdysplasie. S. 1-28. Thieme, Stuttgart-New York
- Müller W (1998) Biophysikalische Messungen zum Effekt von Kippfehlern bei der Hüftsonographie. Mündliche Mitteilung
- 99. Niethard F U, Gärtner B M (1982) Die prognostische Bedetung qualitativer Hüftparameter bei der Verlaufsbeobachtung der Hüftdysplasie im Säuglingsalter und Kleinkindesalter. In: Fries G, Tönnis D (Hrsg.) Hüftluxation und Hüftdysplasie. S. 56–59. Med Lit Verlag Uelzen
- 100. Ortolani M (1937) Un segno poco noto e sua importanza per la diagnosi precoce di prelussazione congenita dell'anca. Pediatria 45: 129–136
- Ortolani M (1976) Congenital hip dysplasia in the light of early and very early diagnosis. Clin Orthop 119: 6–10
- 102. Palmen K (1984) Prevention of congenital dislocation of the hip. Acta Orthop Scand 55 (suppl 208): 1–107

- 103. Parsch K, dePellegrin M (1989) Ruolo dell'ecografia nella diagnosi precoce della displasia e lussazione congenita d'anca. Rivista italiana di ortopedia e traumatologia pediatrica 5: 183–188
- 104. Pauer M, Rossak K, Meilchen I (1988) Hüftscreening der neugeborenen. Z Orthop 126: 260–265
- 105. dePellegrin, M, Graf R (1989) La diagnosi ecografica dell'anca infantile: problemi di terminologia. Rivista italiana di ortopedia e traumatologia pediatrica 5: 121–126
- 106. dePellegrin M, Tessari L (1992) L'ecografia dell'anca infantile. significato e ruolo nella diagnosi precoce di displasia congenita. Medico e bambino 11: 25–29
- 107. dePellegrin M (1992) L'ortopedico ecografista nella diagnosi precoce e nella valutazione del trattamento della displasia congenita dell'anca. Rivista italiana di ortopedia e traumatologia pediatrica 8: 89–92
- 108. Pfeil J, Niethard F U, Barthel S (1988) Klinische und sonographische Untersuchung der Säuglingshüfte: Eine prospektive Studie. Z Orthop 126: 629–636
- 109. Ponseti I V (1978) Growth and development of the acetabulum in the normal child and morphology of the acetabulum in congenital dislocation of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg (A) 60-A: 575–599
- 110. Portinaro N M A, Matthews S J E, Benson M K D (1994) The Acetabular Notch in Hip Dysplasia. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 76-B: 271–273
- 111. Poul J, Bajerova J, Sommernitz M, Straka M, Pokorny M, Wong F Y H (1992) Early diagnosis of congenital dislocation of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 74-B: 695–700
- 112. Putti V (1929) Early treatment of congenital dislocation of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg 17: 798–812
- 113. vonRosen S (1956) Early diagnosis and treatment of congenital dislocation of the hip joint. Acta Orthop Scand 26: 136–140

- 114. von Rosen S (1969) Die konservative Behandlung der Hüftdysplasie und Hüftverrenkung. Z Orthop 106: 173–178
- 115. von Rosen S (1977) Prophylaxe, Frühdiagnostik und Frühbehandlung der Luxationshüfte. Beitr Orthop Traumatol 24: 257–264
- 116. Rosendahl K, Markestad T, Lie R T (1992) Congenital dislocation of the hip: a prospective study comparing ultrasound and clinical examination. Acta Paediatr 81: 177–181
- 117. Roser W (1864) Die Lehre von den Spontanluxationen. Arch Physiol Heilk 5: 132–142
- Ryder C I, Mellin W G, Calley J (1962) The infant's hip normal or dysplastic? Clin Orthop 22: 7–19
- 119. Saito S, Kuroki Y, Ohgiya H, Obara S, Yamazaki K (1994) A Comparative Study of X-rays, Ultrasonograms and Arthrograms of Infants with Congenital Dislocation of the Hip. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 76-B: Supp 1: 30
- 120. Saito S et al (1995) Long-Term Study of Developmental Dysplasia of the Hip Treatment by Pavlik Harness in Japan (Abstract). J Pediatr Orthop 15: 837
- 121. Schilt M, Joller R (1996) Die sonographische Diagnose der angeborenen Hüftdysplasie und -luxation. Schweizerische Ärztezeitung 77 (Heft 17/1996): 701–5
- 122. Schlepckow P (1990) Vergleichende sonographische und röntgenologische Beurteilung der Hüftdysplasie im 2. Lebenshalbjahr. Pädiat Prax 41: 479–485
- 123. Schuler P (1983) Erste Erfahrungen mit der Ultraschalluntersuchung von Säuglingshüftgelenken. Orthop Praxis 19: 761–770
- 124. Schuler P (1984) Die sonographische Differenzierung der Hüftreifungsstörungen. Orthop Praxis 20: 218–227
- Schuler P (1987) Möglichkeiten der sonographischen Hüftuntersuchung. Ultraschall 8: 9–13

- 126. Schuler P, Feltes E, Griss P (1988) Ist die Hüftsonographie als Screeninguntersuchung sinnvoll? Rö Fo 148/3: 319–321
- 127. Schwetlick W (1976) Die kindliche Luxationshüfte. Enke, Stuttgart
- 128. Sellier T, Mutschler B (1988) Erfahrungen und Ergebnisse mit dem sonographischen Hüftscreening von 555 Neugeborenen. in: Frank W, Eyb R (Hrsg): Sonographie in der Orthopädie. Seite 103–109. Springer, Wien
- 129. Stein V, Merck H, Weickert H (1988) Neugeborenen Hüftscreening mit Hilfe der Sonographie. Beitr Orthop Traumatol 35: 137–143
- 130. Suzuki S, Awaya G, Wakita S, Maekawa M, Ikeda T (1987) Diagnosis by Ultrasound of Congenital Dislocation of the Hip Joint. Clin Orthop 217: 172–178
- 131. Suzuki S, Kasahara Y, Futami T, Ushikubo S, Tsuchiya T (1991) Ultrasonography in Congenital Dislocation of the Hip: Simultaneous Imaging of Both Hips from In Front. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 73-B: 879–83
- 132. Suzuki S (1993) Ultrasound and the Pavlik Harness in CDH. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 75-B: 483-7
- 133. Suzuki S (1994) Reduction of CDH by the Pavlik Harness. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 76-B: 460–2
- 134. Suzuki S, Kashiwagi N, Kasahara Y, Seto Y, Futami T (1996) Avascular Necrosis and the Pavlik Harness. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 78-B: 631–5
- 135. Taylor G R, Clarke N M P (1997) Monitoring the Treatment of Developmental Dysplasia of the Hip the Pavlik Harness. The Role of Ultrasound. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 79-B: 719–23
- 136. Tegnander A, Terjesen T, Bredland T, Holen K J (19944) Incidence of Late-Diagnosed Hip Dysplasia After Different Screening Methods in Newborns. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics Part B, 3: 86–88

- 137. Terjesen T, Bredland T, Berg V (1989) Ultrasound for hip assessment in the newborn. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 71-B: 767–773
- 138. Terjesen T (1992) Femoral head coverage evaluated by ultrasonography in infants and children. Mapfre Medicina 3 (Supl. I): 41
- 139. Terjesen T, Holen K J, Tegnander A (1996) Hip Abnormalities Detected by Ultrasound in Clinically Normal Newborn Infants. J Bone Joint Surg (Br) 78-B: 636–640
- 140. Tessari L, De Pellegrin M (1992) Criterio morfologico o funzionale nella valutazione dell'anca neonatale? Giornale Italiano di Ortopedia e Traumatologia 18: 541–547
- Tessari L, De Pellegrin M (1992) Il ruolo dell'ecografia nella displasia congenita dell'anca. Medico e paziente 18: 36–38
- 142. Tönnis D, Brunken D (1968) Eine Abgrenzung normaler und pathologischer Hüftpfannendachwinkel zur Diagnsoe der Hüftdysplasie. Arch Orthop Unfall Chir 64: 197–208
- 143. Tönnis D (1984) Die angeborene Hüftdysplasie und Hüftluxation im Kindes- und Erwachsenalter. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo
- 144. Tönnis D (1985) Frühdiagnose der angeborenen Hüftluxation durch Ultraschalluntersuchung. Deutsche Med Wochenschr 110: 881–882
- 145. Tönnis D (1987) Congenital Dysplasia and Dislocation of the Hip in Children and Adults. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo
- 146. Tönnis D, Storch K, Ulbrich H (1990) Results of newborn screening for CDH with and without sonography and correlation of risk factors. J Pediatr Orthop 10: 145–152

- 147. Tredwell S J (1990) Economic Evaluation of Neonatal Screening for Congenital Dislocation of the Hip. Journal of Pediatric Orthopaedics 10: 327–330
- 148. Tschauner Ch (1989) Diagnosi precoce di displasia dell'anca mediante ecografia. Apparato Locomotore 3: 7–20
- 149. Tschauner Ch (1990) Earliest diagnosis of congenital dislocation of the hip by ultrasonography. Historical background and present state of Graf´s method. Acta Orthopaedica Belgica 56: 65–77
- 150. Tschauner Ch, Klapsch W, Graf R (1990) Das sonographische Neugeborenenscreening des Hüftgelenkes - Luxus oder Notwendigkeit? Monatsschr Kinderheilkd 138: 429–433
- 151. Tschauner C, Klapsch W, Baumgartner A, Graf R (1994) "Reifungskurve" des sonographischen Alpha-Winkels nach Graf unbehandelter Hüftgelenke im ersten Lebensjahr. Z Orthop 132 (1994): 502–504
- 152. vanMoppes F I, deJong R O (1986) Experience Using Sonography for Infant Hip Dysplasia After Graf's Method. JBR-BTR 69: 247–257
- 153. Vedantam R, Bell M J (1995) Dynamic Ultrasound Assessment for Monitoring of Treatment of Congenital Dislocation of the Hip. J Pediatr Orthop 15: 725–728
- 154. Walpert J, Stock T, von Deimling U, Frank D (1998) Zur Meßgenauigkeit der maschinell unterstützten Hüfttypbestimmung beim sonographischen Hüftscreening des Neugeborenen. Orthop Prax 43, Nr.4 (1998): 215–218
- 155. Zieger M, Schultz D (1987) Ultrasound of the infant hip. Part III: Clinical application. Pediatr Radiol 17: 226–232